

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Journal of Chromatography B, 797 (2003) 191-216

JOURNAL OF CHROMATOGRAPHY B

www.elsevier.com/locate/chromb

Review

# Separation methods in the analysis of protein membrane complexes

Yasuhiro Kashino\*

Faculty of Science, Department of Life Science, Himeji Institute of Technology, Harima Science Garden City, Hyogo 678-1297, Japan

#### Abstract

The separation of membrane protein complexes can be divided into two categories. One category, which is operated on a relatively large scale, aims to purify the membrane protein complex from membrane fractions while retaining its native form, mainly to characterize its nature. The other category aims to analyze the constituents of the membrane protein complex, usually on a small scale. Both of these face the difficulty of isolating the membrane protein complex without interference originating from the hydrophobic nature of membrane proteins or from the close association with membrane lipids. To overcome this difficulty, many methods have been employed. Crystallized membrane protein complexes are the most successful example of the former category. In these purification methods, special efforts are made in the steps prior to the column chromatography to enrich the target membrane protein complexes. Although there are specific aspects for each complex, the most popular method for isolating these membrane protein complexes is anion-exchange column chromatography, especially using weak anion-exchange columns. Another remarkable trend is metal affinity column chromatography, which purifies the membrane protein complex as an intact complex in one step. Such protein complexes contain subunit proteins which are genetically engineered so as to include multiple-histidine tags at carboxyl- or amino-termini. The key to these successes for multi-subunit complex isolation is the idea of keeping the expression at its physiological level, rather than overexpression. On the other hand, affinity purification using the Fv fragment, in which a Strep tag is genetically introduced, is ideal because this method does not introduce any change to the target protein. These purification methods supported by affinity interaction can be applied to minor membrane protein complexes in the membrane system. Isoelectric focusing (IEF) and blue native (BN) electrophoresis have also been employed to prepare membrane protein complexes. Generally, a combination of two or more chromatographic and/or electrophoretic methods is conducted to separate membrane protein complexes. IEF or BN electrophoresis followed by 2nd dimension electrophoresis serve as useful tools for analytical demand. However, some problems still exist in the 2D electrophoresis using IEF. To resolve such problems, many attempts have been made, e.g. introduction of new chaotropes, surfactants, reductants or supporting matrices. This review will focus in particular on two topics: the preparative methods that achieved purification of membrane protein complexes in the native (intact) form, and the analytical methods oriented to resolve the membrane proteins. The characteristics of these purification and analytical methods will be discussed along with plausible future developments taking into account the nature of membrane protein complexes. © 2003 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Reviews; Membrane protein complexes

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	192
2.	Preparative separation of membrane protein complexes	197
	2.1. Solubilization by detergents	197
	2.2. Chromatographic separation	199
	2.2.1. Purification of membrane protein complexes through ion-exchange columns	199
	2.2.2. Affinity tagging	202
	2.2.3. Affinity columns	205
	2.2.4. Chromatofocusing	205
	2.3. Electrophoretic separation	205

\* Tel./fax: +81-791-58-0185.

E-mail address: kashino@sci.himeji-tech.ac.jp (Y. Kashino).

3. Analytical separation of membrane protein complexes	205
3.1. 1D electrophoresis	205
3.2. 2D electrophoresis with isoelectric focusing	209
3.3. 2D electrophoresis with blue native electrophoresis	210
3.4. Detection and determination	211
4. Concluding remarks	212
5. Nomenclature	212
Acknowledgements	213
References	213

# 1. Introduction

The membrane system is an interface between the outer and inner worlds across the membrane. Every level of the biological system, such as mitochondria, chloroplasts, cells and organs, needs to communicate with the outer world. The membrane system is one of the most important interfaces in biological systems. Such a membrane system contains many kinds of receptor proteins, transporter proteins and channel proteins (Table 1) which have critical roles for the biological activity. For example, aquaporins, such as AQP1 [1,2], work as channels to exclusively transfer water molecules across cell membranes. P-type ion transporting ATPases (such as  $Ca^{2+}$ -ATPase) work to establish ion gradients across biological membranes [3,4]. Furthermore, the proteins associated with energy transducing electron transport chains in mitochondria and chloroplasts are located in the membrane system. Accordingly, these proteins associated with the membrane systems, which are called membrane proteins, are also important from the clinical point of view. For example, alteration of human CIC Cl<sup>-</sup> channels is known to be closely related to several kidney-associated diseases [5]. It has been reported that the catalytic activity of NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase (complex I) of the mitochondrial electron transport chain is reduced in Parkinson's disease [6]. Potassium channels suffer interaction with toxins from scorpion venom [7].

Recent advances in genetic information should support research on these membrane proteins. The whole genome sequence of humans [8,9] as well as other many organisms including mice [10] have been reported, and a list of species whose genomes have been completely analyzed can be obtained at, e.g., http://www.genome.ad.jp/kegg/catalog/ org\_list.html. Furthermore, analysis of the whole genome is still being intensively developed for many species (e.g. http://www.genome.ad.jp/dbget-bin/get\_htext?Genome\_Projects+-n). According to these genome sequences, the numbers of genes encoding proteins can be estimated, e.g., around 30,000-40,000 for humans [8,9]. Using such available genome information (11 eubacteria, three archaea and one eukaryotic organism, Saccharomyces cerevisiae), Mitaku et al. reported that 15-20% of ORFs coded for membrane proteins irrespective of the species and the genome size [11]. They obtained this value using the SOSUI program (http://sosui.proteome.bio.tuat.ac.jp/sosuiframe0.html) developed by their group [12]. Wallin and von Heijne also reported a similar value (20–30%) for the ratio of membrane protein genes to the total ORFs using a slightly different genome set (but including *Caenorhabditis elegans* and *Homo sapiens*) and another program [13]. Despite the relatively smaller variety of membrane proteins compared to soluble proteins, they are very important for the development and maintenance of life for all organisms, as described above.

Membrane proteins have close contact with membrane lipids and form protein membrane complexes. Furthermore, in many cases, such membrane proteins form another level of complex which is composed of subunit proteins and cofactors; membrane protein complexes. The functional platform of the membrane protein (complex) is the membrane, which is composed of lipids. There is a mutual relationship between the membrane proteins and the membrane lipids.

The difficulties in the investigation and separation of membrane protein complexes originate from their nature as membrane proteins. (1) They are very hydrophobic and have single or several transmembrane parts, or closely associate with the membrane. (2) In the functional form, many of them comprise (homologous or heterologous) multi-subunit complexes. (3) Such membrane protein complexes contain many cofactors and, inevitably, lipids. (4) Some membrane protein complexes have several peripheral proteins which are functionally important but easily detached during the isolation process.

The separation methods for research on membrane proteins (complexes) contain two categories: preparative and analytical separation. Keeping the membrane protein complex intact is a prerequisite for preparative separation, but not for analytical separation. In spite of the difficulties described above, there are many successes, and challenges to overcome these difficulties. To date, several membrane protein complexes have been purified and their structures and functions have been analyzed in detail (e.g. Table 1). Such crystallized protein complexes are good examples which achieved high quality for the crystallization samples as well as the usual research on membrane proteins: high purity, high homogeneity, monodispersity, etc. Although the number of successes is limited compared to the soluble proteins, investigation into membrane protein complexes is growing

# Table 1 The crystallized membrane protein complexes and the related membrane complexes

Chromatographic purification	Source	Detergents for solubilization	Detergents for post-solubilization	Additive	Column	No. of unique subunits	Formation	Size (10 <sup>3</sup> rel. mol. mass units)	Remarks	Status, resolution	Refs.
NADH:ubiquinone	Bovine heart	1% (w/v) DDM at 12	0.1% DDM	10% (v/v) ethylene glycol	Mono O HR 10/10 then						
oxidoreductase	mitochondria	mg protein/ml, then 1.6%	0.1% DDM	10% (v/v) entylene grycor	ammonium sulphate precipitation	27					[44]
(complex I)	Bovine heart	sulfate precipitation 1% (w/v) DDM at 12	0.1% DDM	10% glycerol, 50 mM	Hiload Sephacryl S-300						[45]
	mitochondria	mg protein/ml, then		sucrose	HR, Hiload Q-Sepharose HP,	43		1279			
		1.6% Na-cholate+ammonium sulfate precipitation			Mono-Q HR and Hiload Sephacryl S-300 HR						
	Bovine heart mitochondria	1% (w/v) DDM at 12 mg protein/ml, then 1.6%	0.1% DDM	10% (v/v) ethylene glycol	Hiload Q-Sepharose HP, then ammonium sulphate	42				(EM), 22Å	[147]
		Na-cholate+ammonium sulfate precipitation			precipitation			890			
	Bovine heart mitochondria	1.75% Triton X-100 with 600 mM NaCl at 35 mg	0.1% DDM		Hydroxyapatite, DEAE Biogel A, TSK G 4000 SW	43		944			[33]
		protein/ml, then, 2% Triton X-100 with 600 mM NaCl at 40 mg protein/ml									
	Neurospora crassa	4.0% Triton X-100 (at 50 mg protein/ml),	0.1% Triton X-100		DEAE-Sepharose CL 6B, TSK G 4000 SW	~25	Monomer			(EM), 39Å	[148]
		then 10.6% Triter V 100						610			
	Neurospora crassa	3.3% Triton X-100	0.1% Triton X-100		DEAE Sepharose CL-6B, hydroxyapatite (Bio-Gel HTP),	35		1120		(EM), 35Å	[149]
					then sucrose density						
Succinate dehydrogenase	Escherichia coli	4% Lubrol PX at 10 mg protein/ml	1% Lubrol PX		DEAE-Sepharose CL-6B						[150]
/ 1 m			444 T 1 1 DT			4					
(complex II)	Escherichia coli	4% Lubrol PX at 10 mg protein/ml	1% Lubrol PX		DEAE-Sepharose CL-6B		Inmer	260	in E. coli	Crystallized, 2.6A	[151]
Cytochrome b/c1 (complex III)	Rhodobacter sphaeroides	0.66 mg DDM/mg protein	0.01% DDM	25% glycerol	Ni-NTA agarose (eluted by 200 mM histidine)	4	Dimer	200			[69]
	Potato tuber mitochondria	1.5% DDM at 10 mg protein/ml	0.01% DDM, Brij 35		DEAE Sepharose CL-6B, Hydroxyapatite	>10					[34]
	Vertebrate heart mitochondria	1.5% DDM at 10 mg protein/ml			DEAE Sepharose CL-6B, Sepharose CL-6B	11	Dimer			Crystallized, 3Å	[152]
								2×243			
	Bovine heart mitochondria	1.5% DDM at 10 mg protein/ml	0.01% DDM, Brij 35		DEAE Sepharose CL-6B, Hydroxyapatite		Dimer	$\sim \!\! 480$		Crystallized, 4.0A	[86]
	Paracoccus denitrificans	DDM, LDAO, OG at			Strep tag affinity column						[74]
	Paracoccus denitrificans	protein at 10 mg protein/ml			Strep tag affinity column					Crystallized, 2.8Å	[75]
						4					

### Table 1 (Continued)

Chromatographic purification	Source	Detergents for solubilization	Detergents for post-solubilization	Additive	Column	No. of unique subunits	Formation	Size (10 <sup>3</sup> rel. mol. mass units)	Remarks	Status, resolution	Refs.
Cytochrome b/c1 with	Saccharomyces cerevisiae	1.5% DDM at 10 mg	0.01% DDM		Strep tag affinity colum	nn				Crystallized, 2.97Å	[77]
Cytochrome <i>aa</i> 3	Paracoccus denitrificans	LDAO			Strep tag affinity colum (Streptavidin Sepharose	nn				Crystallized, 2.7Å	[76]
Cytochrome ba3	Thermus thermophilus	5% Triton X-100	0.1% Triton X-100,		column) DEAE-Biogel, Fractoge EMD TMAE-650	1				Crystallized, 2.4Å	[153–155]
			0.05% DDM, 0.1% DDM		(S), Superdex 200	3		85			
Cytochrome bo3	Escherichia coli	1% Triton X-100+1.259 OG	% 0.03% DDM, 1% OG		Ni-NTA (eluted by imidazole), MonoQ 10/	10 4	Monomer		C-t His on subunit II	Crystallized, 3.5Å	[156,157]
Fumarate reductase (QFR)	Escherichia coli	Thesit			Anion-exchange, perfusion, and gel filtration chromatograph	v 4		121		Crystallized, 3.3Å	[158]
Photosystem I	Thermosynechococcus elongatus	0.6% DDM at 1 mM C	hl 0.02% DDM		Q-Sepharose HP	11	Trimer	2~256		Crystallized, 4Å	[159]
	Thermosynechococcus elongatus	0.6% DDM at 1 mM C	hl 0.02% DDM		Q-Sepharose HP	12	Trimer	3,350		Crystallized, 2.5Å	[38]
Photosystem II	Synechococcus sp. Thermosynechococcus	2.22% Triton X-100 DDM	0.03% Triton X-100 0.03% DDM		Sepharose-CL-6B Toyopearl 650	~10 >17	Dimer	3×356		2D crystal, 19Å Crystallized, 3.8Å	[160] [49]
	Thermosynechococcus	1.2% DDM+0.5% Na	0.03% DDM	1.65 <i>M</i> ammonium	POROS ET, Uno-Q		Dimer	500		Crystallized, 4.3Å	[55]
	elongatus Thermosynechococcus	1.0% DDM at 1 mg	0.03% DDM	sulphate 10% glycerol, 25%	ProBond (eluted by 20	0		500	C-t His on PsbC		[63]
	elongatus Thermosynechococcus vulcanus	Chl/ml 1.2% DDM at 1 mg Chl/ml	0.05% DDM	glycerol 25% glycerol	m <i>M</i> imidazole) Mono-Q	>17	Dimer			Crystallized, 3.7Å	[50]
	Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803	1.0% DDM at 1 mg Chl/ml	0.03% DDM	25% glycerol	DEAE-Toyopearl 650S			580			[59]
	Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803	1.0% DDM at 1 mg Chl/ml	0.04% DDM	25% glycerol	Ni-NTA agarose (eluted by 50 mM histidine)	d (>20)			C-t His on PsbB		[64]
	Chlamydomonas reinhardtii	2% DDM at 2 mg Chl/ml	0.03% DDM	10% glycerol	ProBond (eluted by 20 mM imidazole)	0	Dimer	580	C-t His on PsbD		[60]
Photosynthetic reaction center	Rhodobacter sphaeroides	0.5% LDAO	0.06% LDAO		DEAE-Sepharose, Fractogel TSK HW-55					Crystallized, 2.65Å	[161]
	Rhodobacter sphaeroides	0.3% LDAO	0.1% LDAO		Q column, Superdex 2	se 3 00 3				Crystallized, 2.6Å	[162]
	Rhodobacter sphaeroides (mutant)	0.3% LDAO	0.1% LDAO		DE52 column, Sepharo Q column, Superdex 20	se 00 3				Crystallized, 2.1Å	[39]
	Rhodopseudomonas viridis	5% LDAO	0.1% LDAO		TSK 3000 SW	4		132		Crystallized, 2.3Å	[163]
	Thermochromatium tepidum	0.25% LDAO	0.05% LDAO		DEAE-Sephacel (twice) DEAE-Toyopearl	, ,		122		Crystallized, 3.0Å	[164]
	Thermochromatium tepidum	0.25% LDAO	0.05% LDAO		DEAE-Sephacel (twice) DEAE-Toyopearl			155		Crystallized, 2.2Å	[40]
B800-820 LHC (LH2)	Rhodopseudomonas acidophila	2% (v/v) LDAO	0.1% LDAO		RESOURCE Q	4				Crystallized, 2.8Å	[165]
Bacteriorhodopsin	Halobacterium salinarum	1.2% OG	1.2% OG		BioGel A-0.5 m					Crystallized, 2.5Å	[166]
Sensory rhodopsin II	Natronobacterium pharaonis	1.6% OG at 300 mM NaCl			Ni-affinity column, (eluted by 300 mM imidazole)	1			C-t His-tag	2D crystal, 6.9Å	[167]

Ca <sup>2+</sup> ATPase	Rabbit, skeletal muscle sarcoplasmic reticulum	10% C12E8 at 5 mg protein/ml	0.1% C12E8	20% glycerol	Reactive Red 120 affinity column (elution by 2 mM ADP) 1	Monomer	110		Crystallized, 2.6Å	[3]
Ca <sup>2+</sup> ATPase w/o Ca <sup>2+</sup>	Rabbit, skeletal muscle sarcoplasmic reticulum	10% C12E8 at 5 mg protein/ml	0.1% C12E8	20% glycerol	Reactive Red 120 affinity column (elution by 2 mM ADP)	Monomer	110		Crystallized, 3.1Å	[4]
K <sup>+</sup> channel (KcsA)	Streptomyces lividans	40 m <i>M</i> DM	5 mM LDAO		Co-affinity, gel filtration	Homotetramer		C-t His tag, overexpressed	Crystallized, 3.2Å	[168]
K <sup>+</sup> channel (MthK)	Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum	40 m <i>M</i> DM	5 mM LDAO		Co-affinity (TALON) (eluted by imidazole),	Homotetramer		in <i>E. coli</i> C-t His tag, overexpressed	Crystallized, 3.3Å	[169]
					gel filtration			in E. coli		
Na <sup>+</sup> /H <sup>+</sup> antiporter (NhaA)	Escherichia coli	1.0% DDM	0.1-0.02% DDM	30% glycerol	Ni–NTA (eluted by pH shift to pH 4)	Homodimer		Overexpressed in E. coli	Crystallized, 7Å	[66]
CIC Cl <sup>-</sup> channel	Salmonella typhimurium, Escherichia coli	50 m <i>M</i> DM	45 m <i>M</i> OM		l Co-affinity (TALON) (eluted by imidazole),	Homodimer	2×42	C-t His tag, overexpressed	Crystallized, 3.0Å	[5]
					gel filtration		2×50	in E. coli		
Cl pump Halorhodopsin	Halobacterium salinarum	5% cholate at 4 M KCl	1% OG		(Superdex-200) Phenyl-Sepharose CL-4B	Homotrimer		Overexpression in	Crystallized, 1.8Å	[170]
					1		3×27	H. salinarum		
Mechanosensitive channel of	Mycobacterium tuberculosis	1.0% DDM	0.1% DDM		Ni-affinity, anion-exchange, size	Homopentamer	15~5	N-t His tag, overexpressed	Crystallized, 3.5Å	[171]
large conductance							1575	in E. coli		
(MSCL) Mechanosensitive channel of	Escherichia coli	1% Foscholine-14	0.05% Foscholine-14		Ni-affinity, anion-exchange, size exclusion	Homoheptamer		His-tag, overexpressed	Crystallized, 3.9Å	[172]
small conductance								in E. coli		
Anion-selective porin (Omp32)	Comamonas acidovorans	OPOE	0.6% OPOE		Superdex-200, Q-Sepharose FF medium	Homotrimer	225		Crystallized, 2.1Å	[173]
Aquaglyceroporin, glycerol	Escherichia coli				Ni-affinity, anion-exchange, size exclusion 1	Homotetramer	2×22	N-t His tag	Crystallized, 2.2Å	[174]
facilitator (GlfP) Aquaporin-1 (AQP1)	Human red cell	1% N-lauroylsarcosine,	1.2% OG		POROS Q/F	Homotetramer			Crystallized, 3.8Å	[1]
		4W Tritan V 100			1		4×28			
Aquaporin-1 (AQP1)	Bovine erythrocytes	NG	13 mM NG		DEAE Sephacel	Homotetramer			Crystallized, 2.2Å	[2]
Maltoporin (LamB)	Salmonella typhimurium	2% LDAO	0.08% LDAO		1 Amylose resin	Homotrimer	4×28		Crystallized, 2.4Å	[175]
ABC transporter	Escherichia coli	1% <b>α</b> -DDM	0.05% <b>Q</b> -DDM		1 Ni-chelate	Homodimer	3×48	N-t His tag,	Crystallized, 4.5Å	[176]
(mour)					ion-exchange 1		129	overexpressed		
					emoniatography			in E. coli		

195

### Table 1 (Continued)

Chromatographic purification	Source	Detergents for solubilization	Detergents for post-solubilization	Additive	Column	No. of unique subunits	Formation	Size (10 <sup>3</sup> rel. mol. mass units)	Remarks	Status, resolution	Refs.
ABC transporter (BtuCD)	Escherichia coli	1% LDAO			Ni-NTA, gel filtration	2	Two copies of		N-t His tag in BtuC, BtuC	Crystallized, 3.2Å	[72]
						-	each subunit		and BtuD were coexpressed from a single plasmid in <i>E. coli</i>		
Bacterial multidrug efflux	Escherichia coli	2% DDM	0.2% DDM	10% glycerol	Chelating Sepharose with Ni <sup>2+</sup>	1	Homotrimer	2~114	C-t His tag, overexpressed	Crystallized, 3.5Å	[177]
transporter (AcrB) Translocon at the outer-envelope	Pea chloroplast outer envelope				Fast-flow Ni-NTA	1	Homodimer	57114	in <i>E. coli</i> C-t His tag, overexpressed	Crystallized, 2.0Å	[178]
membrane of chloroplasts (Toc34)						1		2×34	in E. coli		
Ferric enterobactin receptor (FepA)	Escherichia coli	2% Triton X-100,	1% OG		DE-52 (twice), then PBI 94 chromatofocusing	3		80		Crystallized, 2.4Å	[78]
FhuA, the siderophore receptor	Escherichia coli	1.0% LDAO	0.10% LDAO		DE-52, Sephadex G100 Ni–NTA agarose		Monomer	70	Overexpressed in E. coli	Crystallized, 2.5Å	[179]
Electrophoretic purification								.,			
Fumarate reductase (QFR)	Wolinella succinogenes				DEAE CL-6B column (twice), then, preparative IEF	3	Dimer			Crystallized, 2.2Å	[82]
Photosystem I	Synechococcus sp. PCC 7002	1.44% DDM at 1.2 mg Chl/ml			Preparative IEF, then, Q-Sepharose	-	Trimer	690–760		Crystallized	[80]
Ammonium acetate fractionation											
Cytochrome b/c1	Bovine heart mitochondria	Cholate			Ammonium sulfate fractionation	13	Dimer			Crystallized, 2.8A	[180]
	Bovine heart mitochondria	Cholate			Ammonium sulfate fractionation	13	Dimer			Crystallized, 2.8A	[36]
	Bovine heart mitochondria	Deoxycholate			15 step ammonium acetate fractionation; recovery was from 18.5	11				Crystallized, 2.9A	[181]
Cytochrome <i>b/c1</i> with famoxadone	Bovine heart mitochondria	Deoxycholate		0.66 M sucrose	to 33.5% saturation 15 step ammonium acetate fractionation;	11	Dimer	~500		Crystallized, 2.4Å	[182]
Cytochrome b/c1	Bovine heart	Deoxycholate			recovery was from 18.5 to 33.5% saturation 15 step ammonium					Crystallized, 3.0Å	[183]
with inhibitor	mitochondria				acetate fractionation; recovery was from 18.5 to 33.5% saturation	11					
Phase partitioning	Dening and enter common	t UTC NC with 90			Slaur anta anatalfanation					Crustellined 28Å	F1041
Knodopsin	bovine rou outer segmen	mM divalent cation			Slow rate centrifugation	1		40		Crysidilizeu, 2.6A	[104]
Sucrose density						-					
Photosystem I	Thermosynechococcus vulcanus	2.0% OG			Sucrose density gradient	12				Crystallized, 6Å	[185]

C12E8, octaethylene glycol dodecyl ether; DDM, n-dodecyl-\$-D-maltopyranoside; OA, n-octyl-\$-D-maltosytae; DM, n-decyl-\$-D-maltoside; HTG, n-heptyl-\$-D-thioglucoside; LDAO, lauryldimethylaminoxide; NG, n-nonyl-\$-D-glucoside; OG, n-octyl-\$-D-glucoside; OM, n-octyl-\$-D-maltoside; OPOE, octyl-polyoxyethylene. C-t and N-t, carboxy and amino termini, respectively.

more important. This is true for clinical biochemistry of medical necessity. Analysis of the structure through the crystallization work will enable clarification of the precise function of the membrane protein complexes. Furthermore, the determined structure will lead to the effective design of new drugs.

The analytical separation of membrane proteins is quite important for clinical research. Based on the genome information, a proteomic approach has been developed, which aims to detect whole expressed proteins to analyze the function of such proteins and the functional linkage between them. This proteomic approach is one of the important clinical analyses. Analysis of the subunit components in an isolated membrane complex is also necessary for the full understanding of the function of the membrane protein complex. For this analytical aim, sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) [14] and/or 2-dimensional electrophoresis in conjunction with isoelectric focusing (IEF) [15] or blue native (BN) [16] electrophoresis are frequently employed. 2D electrophoresis combined with IEF is widely performed for membrane protein samples [17,18]. This method makes it easy to find differences in the expression levels of known or unknown proteins between normal and diseased samples. However, the application of membrane protein complexes to these electrophoreses still has some problems originating from the nature of the membrane protein complexes, as will be discussed later.

This review will focus on two points based on the problems described above. One main section will describe the methods for isolating membrane protein complexes. Since the category of membrane protein complexes is too wide to cover all of them here, this review will discuss the reports which described or oriented the analysis of the crystal structure of membrane proteins and the related reports. The other main section will describe the methods for resolving each protein for analytical use, such as SDS–PAGE and 2D electrophoresis. These methods will be discussed in view of plausible application to medical (clinical) biochemistry as well as my experiences in overcoming the difficulties of hydrophobic membrane proteins.

# 2. Preparative separation of membrane protein complexes

The crystallized membrane protein complexes and the related membrane protein complexes are listed in Table 1 with key information on the purification methods. Among these methods, notable topics will be picked up and discussed in detail.

#### 2.1. Solubilization by detergents

Before discussing individual separation methods, it is useful to glance over the usage of detergents. In many cases, the first important step in purifying membrane protein complexes from any membrane system is to solubilize them from their environment surrounded by lipids (Fig. 1). The success of the purification relies greatly on the choice of detergents and their concentrations, especially when one wants to purify the membrane protein complexes in their intact (native)



Fig. 1. General isolation scheme for membrane protein complexes.

form. Although there have been many successes in membrane protein purification, it is still a very difficult problem to identify the proper detergents. Recently, we have been able to use many new detergents. Nonetheless, and accordingly, we have to understand the nature of such detergents. For recent advances on the matter of detergents for membrane proteins, see the review by Garavito and Ferguson-Miller [19].

Triton X-100 was successfully applied to solubilize the photosystem II (PS II) complex from chloroplasts in higher plants [20]. n-Heptyl-B-D-thioglucoside (HTG) was effective in removing the light-harvesting chlorophyll a/b protein complex (LHCII), which associates with the PS II complex in a large amount, from this PS II preparation [21,22]. Recently, the structure and function of the PS II complex have been frequently analyzed using cyanobacteria. Triton X-100 is not so effective for isolating the cyanobacterial PS II complex (personal experience). In early studies on the cyanobacterial PS II complex, n-octyl- $\beta$ -D-glucoside (OG) was used to solubilize the PS II complex from the thermophilic cyanobacterium, Thermosynechococcus elongatus [23]. OG, HTG [24] and sucrosemonolaurate [25] at proper concentrations (and the ratio to the proper amount of proteins) preferentially solubilized PS II complex rather than PS I complex from thylakoid membranes. This selective solubilization was seen at around 20 °C but not at low temperature [23,24]. Okada et al. found similar selective solubilization [26]. They solubilized rhodopsin selectively from bovine rod outer segment (ROS) membranes using alkyl(thio)glucoside (HTG or *n*-nonyl-β-D-glucoside) in the presence of a high concentration (80 mM) of a divalent cation. These complicated phenomena may not only depend on the detergent nature but also partly on micro-environmental differences in the lipids around the complex, as seen in the bacteriorhodopsin-lipid complex [27] or the asymmetrical distribution of lipids in biomembranes such as the outer- and inner-leaflet of the thylakoid membrane system [28,29]. Accordingly, it is better to consider the combination of detergents not only with the membrane type (from bacteria, mammals and so on) but also with the target membrane protein complex.

The concentration of detergents is another point which should be considered. Recently, n-dodecyl-\beta-D-maltoside (DDM) has been favorably used for the solubilization of PS II from cyanobacterial thylakoid membranes. The most common concentration used is 1-2%, as shown in Table 1. The selectivity of this detergent against the PS II complex seems to be less when compared to the detergents described above. Higher concentrations of DDM can solubilize more proteins. However, in the case of the mesophilic cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803, higher concentrations seem to cause some unexpected effects on the PS II complex. Fig. 2 shows the effect of the DDM concentration on the fluorescence emission spectra at 77 K from thylakoid membranes. Various concentrations of DDM were added to thylakoid membranes and the fluorescence emission spectra at 77 K were monitored. The fluorescence at around 720



Fig. 2. Effects of DDM on the yield of fluorescence from PS I and PS II at 77 K. Various concentrations of DDM were added to a thylakoid membrane suspension (1 mg Chl/ml) and incubated for 20 min, after which the fluorescence was recorded at 77 K. Chlorophyll was excited at 420 nm (Kashino, unpublished data).

nm is from the PS I complex while the emissions around 685 and 695 nm are from the PS II complex. It is remarkable that, when DDM exceeded 1%, the emission from PS II markedly increased leaving the emission from PS I at the same level. A similar effect was observed for PS II in a thermophilic cyanobacterium, T. elongatus (Kashino and Aminaka, unpublished data). The precise mechanisms of this phenomenon are unknown, but some kind of loosening of the conformation in the PS II complex, which results in alteration in the energy transfer between chlorophylls, could happen at higher concentrations of DDM even though DDM is a mild detergent. It has been reported that some detergents such as Triton X-100 and SDS affect the apparent differential absorption coefficient of P700 (reaction center chlorophyll) in PS I depending on their concentration [30-32]. Okun et al. examined the effect of varying the concentration of several detergents on the specific activity and inhibitor sensitivity of complex I from bovine heart mitochondria [33]. These detergents included Triton X-100, Brij-35, Thesit, Chaps, K-Cholate and DDM. It was shown that all three polyoxyethylene-ether detergents (Triton X-100, Brij-35 and Thesit) could act as specific inhibitors of complex I even at low concentrations. In addition, they also suggested the possibility of nonspecific delipidation or disintegration of the protein complex by higher concentrations of the detergents. The inhibitory effect of detergent was also reported in the cytochrome b/c1 complex (complex III) purified from potato tuber mitochondria [34]. The activity of the isolated complex depended on the concentration of DDM and was inhibited when DDM was over 0.01%. In summary, to purify a membrane protein complex in its native form, the conditions (concentration of detergents, temperature, coexisting salts, etc.) of the solubilization are important as well as the choice of detergent. The detergents (and their concentrations if available) which were used for the purification of the crystallized proteins are included in Table 1.

Detergents are also necessary to keep the complexes intact after solubilization and purification, and during column chromatography and preparative electrophoresis, but at lower concentrations. There are also problems here. The complex III of mitochondria is thought to be present in a dimeric form in the intact membrane system [35,36]. However, it is difficult to maintain the dimeric form after solubilization. Musatov et al. [35] tested the effect of several detergents on the solubilization and maintenance of the dimeric form. Triton X-100 was most effective for solubilizing the complex, but it destabilized the dimeric form. Under their experimental conditions, they summarized the effectiveness of the detergents for solubilizing the complex III as Triton X-100>DDM  $\simeq$  *n*-undecyl- $\beta$ -D-maltoside > *n*-decyl- $\beta$ -D -maltoside  $\simeq$  octaethyleneglycolmonododecyl ether > Tween 20  $\simeq$  cholate  $\simeq$  deoxy-cholate  $\simeq$  CHA- $PS \simeq CHAPSO$ . Unexpectedly, most of these detergents destabilized the dimerization of the complex. Among those tested, only low concentrations of DDM around neutral pH maintained the dimeric form of the complex without leading to aggregation [35]. In general, to maintain the solubilized form, detergent at twofold the critical micelle concentration (CMC) is sufficient. However, considering the results of Musatov et al. [35], we need to keep in mind the effect of detergents on the maintenance of the multimeric form of membrane protein complexes.

Several crystallized examples have been reported where trimers or dimers are thought to be stabilized by lipid mediation [27,37]. The crystallized PS I complex also has four lipids per unit whose functional importance is speculated [38]. The crystallized photosynthetic reaction center from photosynthetic bacteria also contained lipids [39,40]. From the point of view of the multimeric form of protein complexes, good detergents may leave some specific lipids in the complex to keep the complexes intact.

## 2.2. Chromatographic separation

# 2.2.1. Purification of membrane protein complexes through ion-exchange columns

It is remarkable that all the ion-exchange columns in Table 1 are anion-exchange columns (Table 2). The process for enriching membrane protein complexes prior to the column chromatographic work is quite important in the purification of such complexes. Many successful methods paid great attention to the process preceding the column chromatography steps.

Complex I of mitochondria is one of the largest multi-subunit membrane protein complexes in the biolog-

Table 2

Columns found in Table 1

Anion-exchange columns DEAE-Biogel, DEAE Biogel A [Bio-Rad] DEAE Sephacel [Amersham Bioscience] DEAE-Sepharose CL-6B [Amersham Bioscience] DEAE-Toyopearl 650S [Tosoh] DEAE-Toyopearl [Tosoh] DE52 [Whatman] Mono-Q [Amersham Bioscience] Mono-Q HR [Amersham Bioscience] POROS Q/F [PerSeptive] Q-Sepharose [Amersham Bioscience] Q-Sepharose FF [Amersham Bioscience] Q-Sepharose FF [Amersham Bioscience] RESOURCE Q [Amersham Bioscience] Uno-Q [Bio-Rad] Fractogel EMD TMAE-650 (S) [Merck]
Affinity columns Amylose resin [New England Biolabs] Chelating Sepharose with Ni <sup>2+</sup> [Amersham Bioscience] Ni–NTA agarose (Ni-affinity) [Qiagen] Fast-flow Ni–NTA (Ni-affinity) [Qiagen] ProBond (Ni-affinity) [Invitrogen] Reactive Red 120 affinity column [Sigma] Streptavidin CH Sepharose 4B column [Amersham Bioscience] TALON (Co-affinity) [Clontech]
Hydrophobic interaction chromatography (HIC) columns POROS ET [PE Biosystems] Phenyl-Pepharose CL-4B [Amersham Bioscience]
Chromatofocusing column PBE 94 [Amersham Bioscience]
Hydroxyapatite column Bio-Gel HTP [Bio-Rad]
Gel permeation columns BioGel A-0.5 m [Bio-Rad] Fractogel TSK HW-55 (S) [Merck] Sephacryl S-300 HR [Amersham Bioscience] Sephadex G100 [Amersham Bioscience] Superdex 200 [Amersham Bioscience] Sepharose-CL-6B [Amersham Bioscience] TSK 3000 SW [LKB] TSK G 4000 SW [Tosoh]

ical system, and it comprises 43 subunit proteins forming a  $944 \times 10^3$  rel. mol. mass in bovine heart mitochondria [33]. Complex I is the entry point of electrons into the mitochondrial respiratory chain [41]. Due to its importance for biological activity, including humans, extensive efforts were made to purify this complex. Other than complex I, there are four major membrane protein complexes in the mitochondrial membrane system: succinate dehydrogenase (complex II), complex III, cytochrome *c* oxidase (complex IV) and F1F0 ATPase (complex V) [42]. The first task in purifying complex I is to separate it from the other complexes. For this aim, ammonium sulfate or ammonium acetate fractionation is frequently used [43]. The method described by Finel et al. [44] was developed from such methods. They solubilized the membrane fraction first using 1% DDM at 12 mg protein/ml in the presence of 20 m*M* Tris–HCl (pH 8.0). The solubilized fraction which was obtained after centrifugation was further subjected to 1.6% sodium cholate and ammonium sulfate at 40% saturation (final concentration). Complexes I and V were recovered in the fraction sedimented by ammonium sulfate at 52% saturation while most of the other respiratory complexes (complexes II–IV) remained in the supernatant. The precipitated fraction containing complexes I and V was suspended in a solution containing both 1.5% cholate and 1% DDM.

After further purification by a 2nd ammonium sulfate fractionation, complexes I and V were solubilized again by 1% DDM and applied to a Mono Q HR 10/10 anion-exchange column (Amersham Bioscience, Buckinghamshire, UK) in the presence of 0.1% DDM. Complex I was eluted at 250-320 mM NaCl in a highly purified form. The polypeptide profile of this purified complex I showed high purity (but with partial loss of a  $42 \times 10^3$  rel. molecular mass subunit). However, the purified complex I lost some of its activity to transfer electrons from NADH to ubiquinone-1, and became insensitive to the inhibitor rotenone.

To overcome these problems, they modified the method [45]. Complexes I and V were obtained in the 40-60% saturated ammonium sulfate fraction in the above method. This pellet was suspended in a solution containing 100 mM sodium cholate and 1.0% DDM followed by desalting and delipidation using a HiLoad 26/60 Sephacryl S-300 HR gel filtration column (Amersham Bioscience). Subsequently, complexes I and V were subjected to a HiLoad 26/10 O-Sepharose HP anion-exchange column (Amersham Bioscience). Complex I, which was eluted by 300 mM NaCl, was further purified using a Mono-Q HR 10/10 column and a HiLoad 26/60 Sephacryl S-300 HR gel permeation column. The purified complex I preparation showed a monodisperse feature and rotenone-sensitive activities. Furthermore, phospholipid was not detected in the purified preparation. The delipidation was quite important because phospholipid could contribute to the enzyme heterogeneity.

Okun et al. extended a different approach [33]. As described in the previous section, they first tested the effect of detergents on the activity. They found that Triton X-100 was the most suitable to selectively solubilize complex I, and that the inhibitory effect of Triton X-100 on the activity was reversible. The mitochondrial membranes (35 mg protein/ml) were solubilized by 1.75% Triton X-100 in the presence of 600 mM NaCl at pH 7.4. Centrifugation yielded a pellet containing complexes I and III, while the matrix proteins, cytochrome c, and complexes II and V remained in the supernatant. The pellet was homogenized into a buffered solution to 40 mg protein/ml, and solubilized by 2.0% Triton X-100 in the presence of 600 mM NaCl. Subsequent centrifugation yielded a supernatant which contained most of the complexes I and III. With an additional 1% Triton X-100, the supernatant was applied to hydroxyapatite for the aim of desalting and further delipidation (the column was washed with one volume of a solution containing 0.1%

Triton X-100). The fraction containing complexes I and III, obtained by elution with 200 m*M* K-phosphate (pH 7.4) and 0.5% Triton X-100, was subjected to DEAE Biogel A (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA) and the detergent was replaced with 0.1% DDM (at pH 7.0) which had not shown inhibitory effects on the complex I activity. Complex I was eluted by 200 m*M* NaCl in the presence of 0.1% DDM at pH 7.4 and further purified by a TSK G 4000 SW gel-filtration column (Toso-Haas, Stuttgart, Germany).

The use of a hydroxyapatite column enabled them to avoid ammonium sulfate fractionation because the hydroxyapatite step was efficient for delipidation and reduction of the salt concentration. The exchange of the detergents at the step of the DEAE Biogel A column, which kept the complex I activity and the inhibitor sensitivity, was also important, as discussed in the previous section. The resulting purified complex I showed the typical polypeptide profile on SDS–PAGE without contamination. Although the procedure included an extensive delipidation step, the preparation retained phospholipid but showed the monodisperse feature, ~500 nmol/mg protein after Biogel A column, and ~100 nmol/mg protein after TSK gel column. The retained phospholipid might be effective in keeping the complex I intact.

Here is a simple thought on the purification methods for mitochondrial protein complexes: are there any peripheral proteins which are closely associated but easily removed by a high salt concentration? Many methods include steps with a high salt concentration (ionic strength). In the case of PS II complex of higher plants and cyanobacteria, the peripheral proteins, which are important in catalytic reactions, are easily removed by a high salt concentration, such as 1 MNaCl or 1 M CaCl<sub>2</sub> [46–48]. Accordingly, special attention is paid to not losing such peripheral proteins in preparing the PS II complex, which will be described later. When a high salt concentration is used during the preparation for the isolation of the PS II complex, the peripheral proteins are then restored by reducing the salt concentration through dialysis [21,22]. The preferential conditions for retaining such lumenal proteins in intact PS II complexes contain low salt (10 mM NaCl, 5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> and 5 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>) with 25% (or 10%) glycerol (or comparable concentrations of sucrose) at weak acidic pH.

The PS II reaction center complex in plants, algae and cyanobacteria is another example of a very complicated membrane protein complex. It is made of 16 or more transmembrane proteins, the number of which is more than that of the cytochrome b/c1 complex (complex III) of bovine mitochondria (13 subunit proteins), three or four peripheral water-soluble proteins, and other cofactors (e.g. around 40 chlorophyll *a* molecules, two plastoquinones, two heme, 4 Mn, etc), whose molecular mass ranges over  $500 \times 10^3$  rel. molecular mass units in a dimeric form [48–50]. The PS II complex has a unique function. It oxidizes water to produce molecular oxygen, which is necessary for the respiration of most organisms, using light energy [49]. The PS II complex is embedded in the thylakoid membrane, which is a major

membrane system of the cyanobacteria, and the chloroplasts of algae and higher plants. Other than the PS II complex, PS I complex, cytochrome b6/f complex, and ATPase are also present in the thylakoid membrane system, which are also multi-subunit membrane protein complexes [51]. In the cyanobacterial thylakoid membrane system, the most abundant membrane protein complex is the PS I complex. The ratio of the PS II reaction center to the PS I reaction center is around 0.2. Usually, to purify the PS II complex, the first effort is applied for enriching the PS II complexes in the thylakoid membrane sample. The second point is to separate phycobilisomes, which are tightly associated with the PS II reaction center complexes and play a role in collecting light energy, mainly for the PS II reaction centers [52]. The phycobilisomes are water-soluble and most of them can be removed by salt-washes such as 1 M CaCl<sub>2</sub>. The amount of them is considerably large, and they are recognized as a major component of the thylakoid membrane fraction even if the PS II subunit proteins are not easily recognized as distinct bands on the SDS-PAGE profile (lane 1 in Fig. 4, although the major part of the phycobiliproteins were lost in advance in this sample). However, the procedures to remove phycobiliproteins also easily remove peripheral proteins which are located on the opposite side (lumenal side) of the thylakoid membrane and play important roles in evolving molecular oxygen. So, the second effort is applied to remove phycobilisomes without the loss of these peripheral proteins (such as the  $33 \times 10^3$  rel. molecular mass manganese-stabilizing protein (PsbO),  $12 \times 10^3$  rel. molecular mass protein (PsbU) and cytochrome c550 (PsbV)).

Many purification methods for the PS II complex consist of the following two processes: enrichment of the PS II fraction and subsequent column chromatography. Enrichment is usually performed by solubilization of the membrane fraction with detergents and subsequent centrifugation. The frequently performed chromatographic methods are ion-exchange chromatography, hydrophobic interaction chromatography or affinity chromatography after genetical transformation (Table 1). The presence of detergents during the purification process is critically important as described above.

The first crystal of the PS II complex was reported by Zouni et al., and was purified from the thermophilic cyanobacterium, *T. elongatus* [49] (optimum growth temperature is around 55 °C). They separated the PS II fraction by using a sucrose density gradient after extraction of the PS II complex from thylakoid membranes. The first sucrose density gradient centrifugation contained 10–40% sucrose in a buffer (20 mM MES-NaOH (pH 6.5), 10 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 20 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>) and a detergent, sulfobetain 12 (SB 12), which was kept below its CMC (0.1%). The addition of SB 12 to the sucrose gradient decreased the amounts of phycobilisome in the PS II fraction, which may be caused by solubilization of phycobiliproteins. In addition, the intended lower concentration of SB 12 allowed the PS II complex to aggregate during the centrifugation to make a sharper band. Then, this fraction enriched in PS II complexes was applied to a second sucrose gradient centrifugation, which contained DDM at 3-5-fold the CMC. This second sucrose gradient centrifugation yielded a PS II complex fraction totally free from phycobiliproteins. PS II complexes were further purified by anion-exchange chromatography using an FPLC Mono-Q HR 5/5 column, which was equilibrated with MES buffer (pH 6.5) in the presence of 0.03% DDM. The bound PS II complexes were eluted by a gradient of MgCl<sub>2</sub> (5-200 mM). This chromatography separated active PS II dimers and inactive PS II monomers [53]. Improvement of the purification has been achieved by using a Toyopearl 650 column [54]. The resulting PS II complexes were precipitated twice in the form of small crystals by polyethyleneglycol (PEG) for further purification. This purification method successfully produced PS II complex crystals suitable for X-ray analysis [49]. According to their structural model of PS II, it is remarkable that the complex, purified as above, retained lumenal peripheral proteins but no phycobiliproteins.

Kuhl et al. also obtained crystals from the same organisms [55] with a different purification method. Thylakoid membranes were first washed with 0.05% DDM, which was higher than the CMC (around 0.009%) but does not solubilize membrane proteins in this condition. This might release the excess amount of phycobiliproteins and other weakly associated proteins. After resuspension in medium (20 mM HEPES (pH 7.5), 10 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 10 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.2 M  $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ ), membrane proteins were solubilized at 1 mg Chl/ml, which is approximately equal to 8 mg protein/ml [56], with 1.2% DDM and 0.5% sodium cholate at room temperature for 30 min. Following centrifugation, the supernatant was diluted by a solution containing 3 M ammonium sulfate to give a final concentration of 1.65 M ammonium sulfate. PS II complexes were trapped in a hydrophobic interaction chromatography (HIC) column (POROS ET, PE Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) and eluted by a gradient of 1.65–0 M ammonium sulfate. After dialysis, the PS II fraction was applied to an anion-exchange column (UNO Q-6, Bio-Rad) and the dimeric and monomeric forms of the PS II complex were separately eluted with a gradient of MgCl<sub>2</sub>. During this process, the concentration of DDM was kept at 0.03%.

Kamiya and Shen crystallized the PS II complex from a similar thermophilic cyanobacterium, *T. vulcanus* [50,57]. They obtained crude PS II by using lauryldimethylamine *N*-oxide (LDAO) prior to the purification step. The crude PS II particles (1 mg Chl/ml) were solubilized with 1.2% DDM [57] in the presence of 25% glycerol and 20 mM NaCl at pH 6.0 (40 mM MES) and 0 °C for 5 min. The PS II complex was applied to a Mono-Q column (an anion-exchanger) in the presence of 0.05% DDM at pH 6.0 and 18 °C. The co-existing phycobiliproteins and other proteins were removed by 200 mM NaCl. The dimeric form of the PS II complex was eluted by 330 mM NaCl [50,57,58].

Tang and Diner [59] purified the PS II complex from the mesophilic cyanobacterium *Synechocystis* 6803 (optimum growth temperature is around 30 °C). They solubilized the membrane proteins with 1% DDM at 0 °C from thylakoid membranes (1 mg Chl/ml), which were suspended in MES buffer (pH 6.5) containing lower concentrations of salts and 25% glycerol. After centrifugation, the supernatant was loaded onto a DEAE-Toyopearl 650S column (a weak anion-exchanger; Toso Haas). Following a subsequent wash in the presence of 0.03% DDM, the PS II complex was eluted by a linear gradient of MgSO<sub>4</sub> (from 20 to 30 m*M*). The purified intact PS II complex was completely free of phycobiliproteins.

These examples show that DDM is effective for solubilizing PS II complexes at 0 °C irrespective of the difference in growth temperature (i.e. the composition of lipids in thylakoid membranes). Furthermore, anion-exchange columns are effective for purifying the PS II complex. Since the PS II complex is stable and has high activity between pH 6 and 7, the purification process is performed in this pH range. The lower p*I* of many of the subunit proteins might create a lower p*I* for the total complex, which makes anion-exchange columns effective in the weak acidic pH range.

The use of glycerol (or sucrose) in the PS II purification procedure is one of the notable points. Although it is not so common for other membrane protein complexes, glycerol (or sucrose) can work to retain peripheral proteins. Furthermore, it may have the effect of reducing the concentration of water, which will help to keep the hydrophobic proteins intact.

#### 2.2.2. Affinity tagging

An alternative approach for purifying the PS II complex was developed by Sugiura et al. [60]. They introduced a hexa-histidine tag (His-tag) into one of the subunit proteins. Purification of overexpressed protein with a genetically introduced His-tag [61] is frequently employed in many laboratories. The key point of the idea was to introduce the His-tag into one of the subunit components in the original organism and allow the physiological expression level, rather than overexpression. Accordingly, the PS II components, as many as 20 subunits and cofactors, assemble into the normal complex. Sugiura et al. showed that this idea is effective for the PS II complex of the green alga Chlamydomonas reinhardtii [60]. The His-tag was introduced at the carboxy terminus of the D2 protein (PsbD), because Goldsmith and Boxer [62] successfully introduced the His-tag to the carboxy terminus of the M subunit in the photosynthetic reaction center complex in Rhodobacter sphaeroides (a smaller complex composed of four subunit proteins), which is the counterpart of the PsbD protein. The mutant cells grew somewhat more slowly than the wild type, but showed almost the same character.

Thylakoid membranes of the mutant cells were solubilized using 2% DDM in the presence of 10% glycerol at pH 7.5 and 0 °C. After centrifugation, the supernatant was applied to a Ni<sup>2+</sup> affinity column (ProBond, Invitrogen, San Diego, CA, USA). After a subsequent wash at pH 6.0, the PS II complexes were eluted by 200 mM imidazole. During this procedure, 0.03% DDM and 10% glycerol were present in the medium. The obtained fraction contained PS II subunit components other than the PsbD protein, including peripheral proteins, and showed high oxygen evolving activity. This means that the His-tagging method is very useful for easy purification of the PS II complex. This method is very rapid and simple, which allowed the supermolecular complex to remain intact. Although the yield of PS II was around 3% on the basis of chlorophyll, they estimated that 75% of the initial amount of the PS II complex was recovered. They also tried introducing a His-tag into the amino terminus of the D1 protein (PsbA), another reaction center protein of PS II. However, the cells did not grow autotrophically. There are also unexpected factors which affect the success, although we can design the position of the His-tag so that the spatial topology and function of the complex are disturbed as little as possible.

The same investigators extended this technique to the thermophilic cyanobacterium T. elongatus [63]. The His-tag was introduced to the carboxy terminus of the CP43 protein (PsbC), whose carboxy terminus was expected to locate at the stromal surface. Since several functional peripheral proteins and functional manganese clusters are present in the lumenal side of PS II, the stromal side of PS II may be better for inserting the His-tag. They added a thrombin recognition site preceding the His-tag to reserve the availability of His-tag removal after purification. From this mutant, they could constantly purify highly stable and active PS II through a similar process to the case of C. reinhardtii. They used ProBond (Invitrogen) for the Ni<sup>2+</sup> affinity column chromatography and 200 mM imidazole as the eluting agent. Analytical gel filtration using Superdex 200 (Amersham Bioscience) showed that the major part of the purified PS II was in the dimeric form.

Bricker et al. applied the same technique to the mesophilic cyanobacterium *Synechocystis* 6803 to introduce a His-tag at the carboxy terminus of the CP47 protein (PsbB), and purified the PS II complex free from phycobiliproteins [64] (see also Fig. 4, lanes 1 and 2). Kashino et al. refined the isolation method and demonstrated that the PS II complex really is intact. The purified PS II complex enabled detection of whole subunit components, including novel proteins, which had not been previously recognized as PS II components [48]. It showed high oxygen evolving activity and maintained this high activity for over 2 weeks at 4 °C in the dark [65].

Several Ni<sup>2+</sup> affinity resins were tested (personal experience). Ni<sup>2+</sup> affinity resin supported by Superflow such as TALON Superflow (Clontech, Palo Alto, CA, USA) and Ni–NTA (nitrilotriacetic acid) Superflow (Qiagen, Valencia, CA, USA), which are suitable for application to large scale preparation using an FPLC system, showed severely low yield (far less than 1% based on the initial chlorophyll content). They could not effectively retain the PS II com-



Fig. 3. Elution pattern during gel permeation chromatography of His-tagged PS II complex purified through Ni<sup>2+</sup>–NTA agarose. The PS II complex was purified as described in Ref. [48]. Gel permeation was performed using a HiPrep 16/60 Sephacryl S-300 HR column at a flow-rate of 1 ml/min (FPLC, Pharmacia Biotech) in the presence of 0.04% DDM. Elution was monitored at 280 nm (Aminaka, Sugahara and Kashino, unpublished data).

plexes. This is quite different from the description in the manufacturer's handbook, which says that the Ni-affinity Superflow resin has a capacity of 5-10 mg protein/ml. This discrepancy may come from the spatial conflict between supermolecules of the PS II complex and the Superflow resin. The agarose-based resins have good performance for such supermolecules. The yield of PS II complex from Synechocystis 6803 was 4 to 8% based on chlorophyll when Ni-NTA agarose (Qiagen), which is composed of Ni-NTA coupled to Sepharose CL-6B, was used. Considering that the ratio of chlorophyll molecules belonging to PS II in cyanobacterial thylakoid membranes is around 10%, the recovery is satisfactory. Sugiura et al. obtained a higher yield of PS II complexes using ProBond rather than Ni-NTA agarose (Dr. Sugiura, personal communication). Other metals, such as  $Co^{2+}$ , can be used instead of Ni<sup>2+</sup> (e.g. TALON, Clontech)

Supercomplexes with a His-tag can be highly purified with high activity in a one-step procedure using a Ni<sup>2+</sup> affinity column (Fig. 4, lane 2). Note that the proteins contained in the PS II complex (Fig. 4, lane 2) are hard to recognize in the initial solubilized thylakoid membrane fraction (Fig. 4, lane 1). However, a further process may be effective, e.g. gel filtration. Fig. 3 shows the elution pattern of the His-tagged PS II complex from *Synechocystis* 6803 by gel filtration using Sephacryl S-400 HR (Amersham Bioscience) in the presence of 0.04% DDM and 25% glycerol (Fig. 3). The elution pattern showed a single peak at around  $450 \times 10^3$  rel. mol. mass units, which demonstrated the purity and dimeric form of the isolated PS II complex. Some of the minor components which were recognized in the PS II complex after just the affinity purification (Fig. 4, lane 2) disappeared through this gel filtration (Fig. 4, lane 3). Such a further purification step is frequently found in other publications (Table 1).

Most of the His-tagged proteins were eluted with either histidine or imidazole in the reviewed papers. One exception is NhaA, which was eluted by lowering the pH [66,67]. To elute the PS II complex from metal-chelating resins, high EDTA concentrations or high pH are unsuitable because the peripheral proteins, which have important functions in oxygen evolution, will be dissociated under such conditions. Sugiura et al. used 200 mM imidazole to elute the PS II complex from the metal affinity column [60,63]. The optimum concentration was checked by a gradient of imidazole (Dr. Sugiura, personal communication). His-tagged FhuA, a siderophore receptor in the outer membrane of E. coli, was also found to elute at an imidazole concentration of around 200 mM [68]. In contrast, Bricker et al. used 50 mM histidine [64], since they thought that the larger size ( $M_w$  209.6 vs. 68.08 for imidazole) and the zwitterionic charge of histidine would be less likely to interact with the PS II reaction centers [64].

Although imidazole can retain the high activity of the PS II complex [60,63], it causes problems if the protein complexes have cytochromes [69]. Guergova-Kuras et al. obtained highly active His-tagged cytochrome b/c1 complex from *Rhodobacter sphaeroides* by using 200 mM histidine as the eluting agent, but its activity was severely low when 200 mM imidazole was used instead of histidine. They speculated that a kind of ligand substitution took place in cytochrome c1 in the cytochrome b/c1 complex when a high concentration of imidazole was used in the purification step. Accordingly, histidine may be better as an eluting agent if the protein complex contains cytochromes. Rumbley et al. indicated



Fig. 4. Polypeptide patterns of the purified PS II complex before and after the gel permeation step shown in Fig. 3. Electrophoresis was performed according to Ref. [91], with a gel containing an 18–24% linear acrylamide gradient and 6 *M* urea. Lane 1, solubilized thylakoid membranes; lane 2, PS II complex before gel permeation; lane 3, PS II complex after gel permeation (sample in the peak in Fig. 3). Each sample contained 5  $\mu$ g Chl (~40  $\mu$ g protein). The samples were not heated and delipidated for denaturation. The notable bands which disappeared after the gel permeation are indicated by asterisks. The dots on the left of lane 1 represent phycobiliproteins. The hydrophobic membrane proteins are indicated by "#". The numbers in parentheses are the predicted molecular masses of the mature proteins. The molecular mass standards were from Bio-Rad (prestained SDS–PAGE standards, broad range) (Aminaka, Sugahara and Kashino, unpublished data).

that removal of the imidazole used for elution is essential because a high concentration of imidazole would denature the enzyme over time in the cytochrome *bo*3 complex [70].

Vrettos et al. extended this His-tagging technique to purify peripheral proteins closely associated with the PS II complex [71]. The purification of cytochrome c550 (PsbV) is usually disturbed by phycobiliproteins whose molecular mass is comparable to cytochrome c550 and which are also closely associated with the PS II complex as described above. They obtained highly purified cytochrome c550 from previously purified PS II complexes whose PsbB proteins were His-tagged.

The His-tag can be introduced without interference with the function in the membrane protein complexes. The same purification method is used for many other membrane protein complexes including multi-subunit complexes (Table 1). For successful purification, the position of the His-tag may have to be tested so as not to interfere with the function or the expression level. Locher et al. [72] purified the BtuCD transporter (an ABC transporter mediating vitamin B<sub>12</sub> uptake) from E. coli by introducing a His-tag into the subunit. Prior to this success, they subcloned 28 distinct ABC transporters originating from different biological sources, and systematically tested the location of the His-tag (amino terminus or carboxy terminus) in all combinations for each subunit to examine the expression level from a single plasmid. Rumbley et al. individually introduced a His-tag at the carboxy terminals of subunits I, II and III of the cytochrome bo3 complex, and successfully isolated complexes which contained either His-tagged subunit I or II [70]. Most of the examples described above used a His-tag at the carboxy terminus or amino terminus. However, an exception was found. Ferguson et al. introduced a His-tag in the middle of FhuA, the siderophore receptor in the outer membrane of E. coli. The protein consists of 714 amino acids, and has a surface-exposed loop. They inserted the His-tag genetically into the *fhuA* gene after amino acid 405 which is located in the loop. The insertion of this His-tag did not interfere with the FhuA function, and enabled them to isolate the intact FhuA protein.

In summary, His-tagging is applicable to membrane protein complexes for purification in the native (intact) form whether they are major or minor fractions in the membrane system. This method seems to be very useful, especially if the target membrane protein complex is a minor component in that membrane system. The following points must be considered to achieve success. (1) The subunit and the position of the His-tag to be introduced. The carboxy terminus may be better to avoid the problem of N-terminal processing. However, to keep the function intact, the position might need to be tested. (2) The physiological expression level. The multi-subunit complex might not be assembled if only one of the subunit proteins is overexpressed. If it is possible to introduce the genetically engineered gene of the subunit protein into cultured cells and keep the expression at the physiological level, the method will be successful for purifying the membrane protein complex. (3) The selection of the metal affinity resin. Some kinds of resins may not be suitable for supercomplex purification, such as resins for FPLC in the case of the PS II complex. (4) The eluting agent. If the complex contains cytochromes, imidazole may not be suitable. If the sample contains a metal ion as the active center, EDTA and EGTA are not suitable because such metal cofactors will be removed. If there are some components that are labile at higher or lower pH, then a pH shift is not suitable as the elution method. (5) The detergents. Suitable detergents at suitable concentrations (maybe around twofold the CMC) should be added throughout the affinity column process.

#### 2.2.3. Affinity columns

Affinity separation of complex I from Neurospora crassa using an antiserum has been reported [73]. The solubilized membrane fraction was subjected to an antiserum raised against complex I, and the resulting antibody-associated complex I was separated using Protein A-Sepharose CL-4B (Amersham Bioscience). However, it is hard to elute the protein complex in a native form from such a column. Kleymann et al. resolved this problem [74]. They cloned the cD-NAs encoding the variable domains of hybridoma-derived antibodies raised against complex III or complex IV. The Fv fragments were genetically engineered to include a Strep tag at the carboxy terminus of the VH chain. These engineered Fv fragments act as bifunctional agents, since they would bind to the antigen proteins to form combined complexes and the resulting combined complexes will be immobilized on a streptavidin CH Sepharose 4B column via the Strep tag. The immobilized complex can be eluted in a pure and highly active form with bound Fv fragments by using the mild competitor, diaminobiotin. The corresponding Fv fragments were overexpressed in E. coli and applied to the purification of complexes III and IV from Paracoccus denitrificans. Crystallization studies using this purification method have been reported [75–77]. In contrast to the His-tagging technique, this method does not include any alteration of subunit proteins in the target complex.

Complex III (cytochrome b/c1 complex in mitochondria) was also successfully purified by either 15-step ammonium acetate fractionation, or anion-exchange column chromatography (DEAE Sepharose CL-6B) (Table 1).

#### 2.2.4. Chromatofocusing

Chromatofocusing was used to purify FepA (a ferric enterobactin receptor) from *E. coli* [78,79]. This chromatofocusing was employed exclusively to remove phospholipids after purification through an anion-exchange column.

#### 2.3. Electrophoretic separation

The PS I reaction center complex was purified from the thermophilic cyanobacterium Synechococcus sp. PCC 7002 using preparative IEF [80]. At the first step, the trimeric PS I complex was separated by a sucrose density gradient after solubilization by 1.4% DDM at 1.2 mg Chl/ml (13.2 mg protein/ml). The PS I preparation was subjected to the preparative electrofocusing in the presence of 0.05% DDM. The purified trimeric PS I complex was obtained at the pH 4.6-4.8 position, and eluted by diffusion into the desired buffer solution. Subsequent anion-exchange chromatography and gel permeation chromatography removed the remaining ampholytes. The authors estimated the pI of the trimeric PS I complex by analytical IEF in advance, so that a narrow pH range (pH 4-6, Servalyte 4-6) could be used at the purification step. This enabled the separation of very closely positioned individual complexes. Crystals were obtained using this purified preparation. It was only after the IEF separation that the PS I complex formed crystals. Due to this, the authors speculated that this IEF step removed a minor form of the PS I complex with a slightly different pI [81].

By applying this preparative IEF system, Lancaster et al. purified and crystallized fumarate reductase (QFR) from *Wolinella succinogenes* [82]. The membranes, solubilized by 0.05% Triton X-100, were loaded onto a DEAE CL-6B column and the fraction containing QFR was obtained. After the detergent was replaced with 0.05% DDM/0.20% DM using a second DEAE CL-6B column, the enzyme was separated by using preparative IEF (but using 0.01% DDM/0.1% DM in Refs. [83,84]). The preparative IEF was conducted according to the methods described by Tsiotis et al. as above [80], changing the detergents and the pH as suitable for the QFR enzyme.

These successes in purifying large supercomplexes (around  $260 \times 10^3$  for the dimeric form of QFR [82], and around  $700 \times 10^3$  rel. mol. mass for the trimeric form of PS I [80]) may rely partly on the use of a dextran matrix, Ultrodex (Pharmacia). In this purification, the stabilizing matrix for electrofocusing was essential. Since the PS I complex in the trimeric form has a large molecular mass, the larger pore size realized by this matrix may be one of the important factors.

# 3. Analytical separation of membrane protein complexes

For clinical analysis, separation and determination of each membrane protein is important. Furthermore, it is also necessary to determine the subunit components after the isolation of membrane protein complexes. For this aim, electrophoresis is frequently used.

#### 3.1. 1D electrophoresis

In the reviewed reports on membrane protein crystals, the most frequently used electrophoresis is that based on Laemmli's system [14]. To obtain optimal resolution by SDS-PAGE, one has to choose a suitable acrylamide concentration, a guide for which is given in Ref. [85]. However, in some cases, Laemmli's system is not suitable. Some membrane protein complexes, such as complex III [86,87], PS I [38] and II [24,48,49,88] complexes and cytochrome b6/f complex [89,90], contain low molecular mass proteins smaller than  $10 \times 10^3$  rel. mol. mass units. These low molecular mass proteins are not clearly resolved by conventional SDS-PAGE even if the acrylamide concentration is raised [91]. To resolve such low molecular mass proteins, the Tris/Tricine system is the most suitable [85,92] (Fig. 5, panel IV). However, it takes a long time to run (Fig. 5, panel IV and Fig. 6, panel V). Furthermore, if the sample has proteins of a wide molecular mass range to over  $100 \times 10^3$  rel. mol. mass, the Tris/Tricine system has a disadvantage be-



Fig. 5. Effects of urea on the resolution of membrane proteins. The gels contained 2 *M* (panel I), 6 *M* (panel II) and 7.5 *M* (panel III) urea. The acrylamide concentration was an 18–24% linear gradient in all gels and the buffer system was the same as in Fig. 4 for panels I to III. Panel IV was performed in a Tris/Tricine buffer system according to the method described by Ref. [92] (16.5% T and 6% C acrylamide) using the same samples and the same gel size as other panels (but shrunk after the de-staining step). In each panel: lane 1, molecular mass standards (14.4, 20.1, 30, 43, 67 and  $94 \times 10^3$  rel. mol. mass units); lane 2, PS II complex purified from spinach according to Ref. [22]; lane 3, PS II-enriched fraction prepared from the thermophilic cyanobacterium *T. vulcanus* according to Ref. [24]. Electrophoresis was performed at 15 mA for 13 h in the Tris/MES system, and at 90 V for 24 h to separate the proteins in the Tris/Tricine system. For ease of recognition, some key protein bands are marked (a, b, c, ... and A, B, C, ...) for the corresponding bands in each panel: a, PsbB (56.2×10<sup>3</sup>); b, PsbC (51.8×10<sup>3</sup>); c, PsbO (26.7×10<sup>3</sup>); d, PsbP (20.2×10<sup>3</sup>); e, PsbQ (16.5×10<sup>3</sup>); g, PsbR (10.2×10<sup>3</sup>); h, PsbE (9.3×10<sup>3</sup>); j, PsbK (4.3×10<sup>3</sup>) (Kashino, unpublished data; values in parentheses refer to relative molecular mass units).

cause the separation of protein bands over  $20 \times 10^3$  rel. mol. mass is apparently decreased (Fig. 5, panel IV). To overcome this problem, Ikeuchi and Inoue [88] and Kashino et al. [91] presented other choices, which provided convenient resolution from the lower to higher molecular mass region at lower cost (comparable to Laemmli's system). The two systems (Tris–HCl system in Ikeuchi's and Tris/MES system in Kashino's) give preferable resolution from the lower (around  $3 \times 10^3$  rel. mol. mass) to higher (over  $100 \times 10^3$  rel. mol. mass) molecular mass region, although better resolution can be obtained for the proteins smaller than  $10 \times 10^3$ rel. mol. mass in Shägger's Tris/Tricine system. Fig. 5 shows the resolution pattern of PS II complexes isolated from spinach and a thermophilic cyanobacterium, *T. vulcanus*, in the Tris/MES system in comparison with the resolution pattern of Shägger's Tris/Tricine system. The gel containing 6 *M* urea of the Tris/MES system can resolve many protein bands over a wide molecular mass range (Fig. 5, panel II). Kashino et al. separated and determined the subunit protein components of over 30 proteins in the PS II complexes from a cyanobacterium, *Synechocystis* 6803, using the Tris/MES system with 6 *M* urea [48]. From this analysis, they found novel proteins which were not previously known as photosystem II components from the wide molecular mass region.



Fig. 6. Differences in the separation patterns according to the acrylamide concentration using the Tris/MES buffer system [91] with a mini-gel. The gel contained 12% (panel I), 15% (panel II), 18% (panel III) and 20% (panel IV) acrylamide as well as 6 M urea. Panel V was performed in the Tris/Tricine buffer system according to the method described by Shägger [92] (16.5% T and 6% C acrylamide) using the same size mini-gel. The samples are the same as in Fig. 5. Electrophoresis was performed at 25 mA for 2 h in the Tris/MES system, and at 105 V for 6 h to separate proteins in the Tris/Tricine system. For ease of recognition, some key protein bands are marked (a, b, c, ... and A, B, C, ...) for the corresponding bands in each panel (Kashino, unpublished data).

The benefit of the use of urea should be emphasized for the separation of membrane proteins by SDS-PAGE. Although urea is now widely used for immobilized pH gradient (IPG) isoelectric focusing in combination with thiourea (see below), it is not so often used in 1D SDS-PAGE and the 2nd dimensional SDS-PAGE for 2D electrophoresis. Generally, the presence of urea makes the bands sharper, while many hydrophobic proteins will not form clear bands on conventional SDS-PAGE without urea. Higher concentrations of urea are generally more effective at making the bands clearer, and many more protein bands can be easily recognized in the presence of 6 M urea than in the presence of 2 M urea (compare lanes 3 of panels I and II in Fig. 5). Furthermore, different concentrations of urea in the gel result in differences in the migration patterns of proteins even when the acrylamide concentration is the same (Fig. 5). Some proteins happen to migrate the same distance at some urea concentrations and to be separated at other urea concentrations. Typical examples are bands e and f in Fig. 5. The migration distances of these are quite different in the presence of 2 Murea. The difference between them became smaller at 6 Murea, and they became the same at 7 M urea. This indicates that one should try several gel conditions including different urea and acrylamide concentrations and gel buffer systems

to obtain the optimal gel system for the membrane protein complexes being investigated.

Although the Tris/MES system is useful for separating proteins over a wide molecular mass region, the original system is not very convenient for many laboratories. The original system was performed in a full-size slab-gel containing an acrylamide concentration gradient. The Tris/MES system can be operated in a mini-gel of uniform acrylamide concentration. When a 20% acrylamide gel containing 6 M urea is used (Fig. 6, panel IV), it gives preferable resolution from the smaller to larger molecular mass region with a resolution comparable to the original slab-gel containing the acrylamide concentration gradient (Fig. 5, panel II). The mini-gel also allows a reduction in the amount of sample required for analysis.

Accordingly, it is better to consider several gel systems to obtain a precise protein profile. For Laemmli's system and Shägger's Tris/Tricine system, practical guidelines for the choice of gel system are presented in Ref. [85].

Ikeuchi and Inoue [88] and Kashino et al. [91] included a delipidation process to improve the resolution in the low molecular mass region. Usually, isolated membrane protein complexes contain high levels of lipids, detergents and, in the case of photosystems, chlorophylls, which run faster than the



Fig. 7. Effects of the denaturing method on the separation patterns of membrane proteins. Lane 1, molecular mass standards (6.4 (aprotinin), 20 (lysozyme), 28 (soybean trypsin inhibitor), 34 (carbonic anhydrase), 51 (ovalbumin), 90 (bovine serum albumin), 120 (β-galactosidase) and 203 (myosin)  $\times 10^3$  rel. mol. mass, Bio-Rad); lane 2, unheated and non-delipidated; lane 3, heated; lane 4, delipidated. The same amounts of the samples (purified His-tagged PS II, 7 µg Chl equivalent) were loaded in each lane. The denaturing conditions were as follows. For the unheated and non-delipidated sample, the same volume of denaturing solution was added to the sample and incubated for 20 min on ice. For the heated sample, the same volume of denaturing solution was added to the sample, and the sample was incubated in boiling water for 5 min. For the delipidated sample, 100 µl of methanol and 1 ml of diethyl ether were sequentially added to the sample (below 30 µl) followed by centrifugation, and the resulting pellet was dissolved in the denaturing solution. The denaturing solution contained 5.2% LDS, 172 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0), 40 mM dithiothreitol, 0.5 M sucrose (for high density to aid loading), 0.01% pyronine Y (for visualization of the migration front during electrophoresis). The hydrophobic membrane proteins are indicated by "#". The numbers in parentheses are the predicted molecular masses of the mature proteins (Kashino, unpublished data).

migration front and disturb the resolution of the low molecular mass region (Fig. 7, lane 2). Note that the electrophoretic front region (smaller than  $6 \times 10^3$  rel. mol. mass units) in lane 2 is severely disturbed by many chlorophylls and lipids (yellowish color). This difficulty arises from the fact that membrane protein complexes have close interaction with lipids

and hence, many lipids remain associated with such complexes even after the complexes are isolated. The removal of lipids by using a solvent, diethyl ether, improves the resolution of the low molecular mass region (Fig. 7, lane 4). However, at the expense of this improvement by delipidation, some of the highly hydrophobic proteins of somewhat higher molecular mass become insoluble or form large aggregates (Fig. 7, lane 4). In lane 4 of Fig. 7, the bands of highly hydrophobic proteins such as PsbA, PsbB, PsbC and PsbD became smaller, while other hydrophilic proteins such as PsbO and PsbU, and low molecular mass hydrophobic proteins (e.g. PsbE (large subunit of cytochrome b559) and PsbH (PS II H protein)) were not altered by the delipidation. Carboni et al. found that delipidation by acetone-methanol (8:1, v/v)or acetone-methanol-tributyl phosphate (12:1:1, v/v/v) reduced the spot intensity on a 2D map from rat brain tissue without improved resolution of the proteins, and concluded that delipidation is unnecessary for brain samples [93].

The separation is also decreased by boiling the sample (Fig. 7, lane 3) which is frequently performed with the aim of full denaturation [94], and the effective inactivation of proteinases [94,95]. This heat treatment causes heavy aggregation of hydrophobic membrane proteins, which can be recognized by the appearance of a smear in the stacking gel and the boundary of the stacking and resolving gels, which results in the loss of actual protein bands (Fig. 7, lane 3). This effect is especially prominent for hydrophobic membrane proteins of relatively higher molecular mass. The bands of the hydrophobic PsbA, PsbB, PsbC and PsbD were decreased. However, the same amounts of proteins were retained in the bands for hydrophilic proteins and low molecular mass hydrophobic proteins, such as those described above. We can avoid this problem by omitting the heating step. To prevent proteinase activity, it is recommended to keep the sample cold (on ice) even after the addition of denaturing buffer solution. This low temperature will cause precipitation of the SDS which is present at higher concentration in the denaturing solution. It has been reported that incubation in SDS solution at a temperature below 20°C is ineffective for denaturing proteins [85]. Lithium dodecyl sulfate (LDS) as a replacement for SDS, and loading the samples as quickly as possible, are recommended. LDS at a high concentration (as high as 5.2% (w/v)) will not precipitate, even at 0 °C. A denaturing solution comprising 5.2% LDS, 172 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0), 40 mM dithiothreitol (DTT), and 0.5 *M* sucrose (for high density to aid loading) works very well [91] (lane 2 in Fig. 7). Sonication using a bath-type sonicator will help the denaturation if necessary.

Although it is hard to recognize significant changes in the mobility of individual proteins in Fig. 7 irrespective of the presence or absence of a heating step (if resolved in the gel), we can find examples where the mobility was changed by heating, e.g. FepA ( $79.9 \times 10^3$  rel. mol. mass) showed an apparent molecular mass of  $81 \times 10^3$  after heating and  $62 \times 10^3$  without heating with a denaturing solution containing 4% SDS and 10% β-mercaptoethanol [79]. Castellanos-Serra and Paz-Lago [95] demonstrated the effectiveness of thiourea for preventing proteolysis during sample preparation for 2D electrophoresis. The addition of a proper concentration of thiourea may help prevent proteinase attack when proteolysis is a problem. It is also true for membrane proteins that trials of several methods of sample preparation are generally desirable, as pointed out by Weber et al. [94].

As is easily recognized in Figs. 4 and 7, the molecular masses of membrane proteins are far from agreeing with the molecular mass standards. This discrepancy might come from the values for pre-stained molecular mass marker proteins, which were calibrated with Laemmli's system by the vendor (Bio-Rad). However, in general, hydrophobic membrane proteins migrate faster than hydrophilic proteins when proteins of the same molecular mass are compared. This feature results in confusion when a larger hydrophobic protein happens to migrate faster than smaller hydrophilic proteins. Typical examples are the PsbD and PsbO proteins, where the PsbD protein (hydrophobic,  $39.5 \times 10^3$  rel. mol. mass) migrated faster than the PsbO protein (hydrophilic,  $26.9 \times 10^3$  rel. mol. mass) (Figs. 4 and 7). This suggests that hydrophobic membrane proteins may retain some conformation even in the presence of SDS and/or urea. This kind of discrepancy also occurs between hydrophobic proteins. The apparent molecular mass of the PsbE protein  $(9.4 \times 10^3)$ rel. mol. mass) from T. vulcanus was much smaller (around  $2 \times 10^3$  rel. mol. mass) than the homologous PsbE protein  $(9.3 \times 10^3 \text{ rel. mol. mass})$  in Synechocystis 6803 although the predicted molecular masses are almost the same [24]. In this case, it was suggested that the difference of the mobility came from the relatively large difference in the intrinsic net electric charges between these proteins.

#### 3.2. 2D electrophoresis with isoelectric focusing

2D electrophoresis is a powerful tool for visualizing protein components of a sample. In fact, it is widely used for proteome analysis. It is expected that this tool will contribute to the analysis of the precise protein components of purified membrane protein complexes. However, it is known that there is difficulty in obtaining a high quality of resolution for hydrophobic membrane proteins [18,96]. Wilkins et al. estimated that around 30% of the total hydrophobic proteins (proteins with positive grand average hydropathy (GRAVY) scores [97], which can be calculated at http://us.expasy.org/tools/protparam.html or http://sosui.proteome.bio.tuat.ac.jp/sosuiframe0.html) did not make spots on 2D electrophoresis of Escherichia coli. In particular, hydrophobic proteins whose GRAVY scores are larger than 0.1, 0.15, and 0.3 in Saccharomyces cerevisiae, Bacillus subtilis, and E. coli, respectively, have never been detected by 2D electrophoresis. In contrast, membrane proteins which have high GRAVY scores are resolved by SDS-PAGE. Examples are PsbA and PsbD (see Fig. 4), whose GRAVY scores are 0.41 and 0.36, respectively. Accordingly, the limit of separation of hydrophobic proteins in 2D electrophoresis comes from the limit of the IEF used in the first dimension to separate the hydrophobic membrane proteins. Some researchers prefer conventional fractionation by sucrose density gradient centrifugation or column chromatography rather than IEF because of the separation limit of membrane proteins by IEF. Some of these researchers separate all the components from each fraction using SDS–PAGE, and then determine the total components of visible protein bands in every fraction using modern mass spectrometry (e.g. Ref. [98]), namely, an alternative 2D analysis.

On the other hand, many efforts have been made to improve the analytical quality of membrane proteins using 2D electrophoresis. These include the use of thiourea as a chaotrope [99], amidosulphobetain 14 (ASB 14) as a surfactant [100], and tributyl phosphine (TBP) instead of DTT as a reducing agent [101] in the sample buffer. Although both chaotropes and surfactants are necessary to resolve membrane proteins in IEF, there is incompatibility between some reagents [102]. Rabilloud et al. carefully tested the solubilizing efficiency on microsomal and nuclear proteins with several combinations of chaotropes and surfactants. They recommended a solubilization mixture containing 2 M thiourea, 5 M urea, 2% CHAPS and 2% sulfobetain 3-10 (SB 3-10) for proteins which require an efficient detergent, and a mixture containing 2 M thiourea, 7 M urea, and 4% CHAPS for proteins which require a high concentration of chaotropes (e.g. tubulin). This formula may be the first choice to be considered for the membrane protein samples.

Since zwitterionic amphiphilic compounds such as CHAPS or SB 3-10 improved the solubility of membrane proteins, Rabilloud and his group accordingly synthesized new such compounds (amidosulphobetain 14 (ASB 14) and 16 (ASB 16)) [100]. They found that the combination of amidosulphobetain with thiourea plus urea was efficient for increasing the solubility of membrane proteins. These new surfactants are now commercially available (Calbiochem, Darmstadt, Germany). Carboni et al. also compared the extraction efficiency between CHAPS, ASB 14, and Nonidet P-40 (NP-40) using rat brain tissue [93], and found good resolution and a large number of spots when CHAPS or ASB 14 were used. They also recognized less streaking on the 2D map when CHAPS was used rather than ASB 14. Alkylation is also effective for reducing streaking. Herbert et al. [103] emphasized that the reduction of -SH groups should be followed by alkylation prior to electrophoresis. If a sample does not undergo alkylation after reduction, then artefactual spots due to scrambled disulfide bridges among polypeptides may appear. Acrylamide is a good reagent for the alkylation [103].

Barent and Elthon [104] reported that the addition of the protein sample to the IEF acrylamide solution prior to polymerization made it possible to load large amounts of protein without spoiling the resolution. This technique was applied to 2D electrophoresis with IPG [105]. Pasquali then reported that this technique was also useful for preparative

2D electrophoresis of membrane proteins [106]. The addition of the membrane protein sample into the swelling buffer for IPG gel strips makes it easy to increase the amount of (membrane) proteins, which enables the detection of minor components. When the sample is applied from the edge of the IEF gel or IPG strip, many membrane proteins will not enter the gel because they associate easily with each other. Therefore, application of the membrane protein sample to the gel solution prior to polymerization or to the swelling solution will improve the separation of proteins.

Although these new techniques refine the quality of 2D electrophoresis, they are still not sufficient to separate very hydrophobic proteins. Molloy et al. indicated the possibility that hydrophobic proteins are simply not extracted from the sample prior to 2D electrophoresis [107]. Then, they introduced an extraction method using organic solvents. They used a chloroform-methanol (1:1, v/v) solution to extract the hydrophobic proteins from the membrane fraction and detected five proteins by 2D electrophoresis with positive GRAVY scores in E. coli, which had not previously been detected in 2D electrophoresis. Seigneurin-Berny et al. [108] and Ferro et al. [109] applied the same extraction method to extract the highly hydrophobic proteins from the plant chloroplast envelope and thylakoid membranes. They demonstrated effective recovery of membrane proteins by this method with classical 1D SDS-PAGE. This is one of the alternative strategies for proteome analysis without using 2D electrophoresis. However, we have to keep in mind that, as described in the previous section, organic solvents do not provide good results for the resolution of membrane proteins (Fig. 7 and Ref. [93]), even if the solvent is effective in enriching hydrophobic proteins. We need to consider the balance of the advantages and disadvantages of the solvent extraction method.

While it is true that there are some problems with the extraction methods, the main problem seems to be elsewhere. From my experience using purified and "solubilized" PS II complexes, the hydrophobic membrane proteins such as PsbA, PsbB, PsbC and PsbD, whose GRAVY scores are 0.41, 0.12, 0.27 and 0.36, respectively, did not make any spots on 2D electrophoresis using an IPG gel and incorporating the refined methods described above. This may be partly because of the membrane protein characteristics which tend to associate together to form larger multimeric protein "complexes". For example, even in the presence of SDS, hydrophobic membrane proteins such as PsbA and PsbB are also found as hetero- or homo-multimers in a higher molecular mass region than that of their major populations [48]. Furthermore, membrane protein complexes behave as complexes under mild conditions, which can be seen in preparative IEF [80,82] as described above and BN-PAGE [110] as described later. Oh-Ishi et al. [111] reported an alternative, refined IEF system using agarose gels. They successfully improved the separation of high molecular mass proteins larger than  $150 \times 10^3$  rel. mol. mass, up to  $500 \times 10^3$ rel. mol. mass, in the 1st dimensional IEF. The system can also be loaded with as much as 1.5 mg of proteins, which is suitable for preparative 2D electrophoresis. The future development of this technique may contribute to the analytical methods for membrane protein complexes. Henderson et al. [112] also used agarose gels to separate large supercomplexes in BN electrophoresis, which enabled the separation of complexes greater than  $1 \times 10^6$  rel. mol. mass units. They resolved the pyruvate dehydrogenase complex of  $\sim 7 \times 10^6$  rel. mol. mass units (a mitochondrial matrix enzyme) [112,113]. Agarose gels seem to be suitable for resolving large molecular mass complexes.

Taking these things into account, we (Harayama and Kashino) are now currently developing an IEF electrophoresis system using agarose gels especially for the separation of membrane protein complexes. In this system, hydrophobic proteins whose GRAVY values are between 0.11 and 0.41 made distinct spots, which implies that the system would provide better resolution for very hydrophobic membrane proteins. After further refinement, this system will be reported soon.

#### 3.3. 2D electrophoresis with blue native electrophoresis

BN-PAGE was originally developed for the analysis of mitochondrial respiratory complexes [16,110,114]. This excellent gel system can resolve membrane protein complexes according to their molecular mass in the native form while retaining their individual subunit proteins, which enables estimation of the molecular mass of the complexes. The system can separate complexes with higher resolution than gel filtration or sucrose density gradients. By applying the 1st dimensional BN-PAGE gel to the 2nd dimensional SDS-PAGE, the individual subunit proteins of the complex are disclosed. The multimerization of the complexes can be obtained from the resulting two pieces of information: the molecular mass of the separated complex (1st dimension) and the total subunit proteins of the complex (2nd dimension). Since the BN-PAGE system was originally designed to separate membrane protein complexes, it seems to be free from the problems found in 2D electrophoresis with IEF (or IPG).

The recent improved method and increasing application to other complexes are described in Refs. [110,113,114]. This method has been applied to the analysis of Parkinson's disease [6], Alzheimer's disease [115] and the diagnosis of oxidative phosphorylation defects [116]. Jung et al. evaluated the usefulness for assessing the functional changes of mitochondria in neurodegenerative disorders [117].

BN-PAGE can also be applied to preparative use. However, from written reports, it takes several hours to elute the complexes from the gel after BN-PAGE. If this inconvenience can be resolved, this method will become more useful for preparative purposes. Considering preparative IEF [80,82,111], the introduction of agarose to this system as a supporting matrix [112] might help to resolve this problem. Furthermore, the recent and future advances of the synchrotron radiation technique will reduce the amount of protein sample required for the analysis of crystallized complexes. Then, BN electrophoresis may be able to provide homogeneous membrane protein complexes for the crystallographic approach.

To study the interaction between proteins, such as the formation of complexes, some kind of analytical methods should be developed similar to the yeast two hybridization method [118], since the yeast two hybridization method is not suitable for hydrophobic proteins. 2D electrophoresis in combination with BN electrophoresis is one of the useful candidates for this demand applicable to any organisms as well as His-tagging and TAP (tandem affinity purification [119] which was not described in this review).

#### 3.4. Detection and determination

Coomassie Blue R250 (CBB) is the most popular dye used for staining gels after electrophoresis. The detection limit by CBB is from 8 to 16 ng depending on the proteins, and the linear dynamic range of this staining is 125–1000 ng [120]. Silver staining [121] is also widely used especially when the amounts of proteins are quite small. The sensitivity is high with detection limits of around 0.5 [122] to 8 ng [120] depending on the proteins [123]. However, even though the sensitivity of silver staining is very high, the dynamic ranges are not as wide, e.g. 8–60 ng linear relationship for the alkaline/silver diamine stain and 4–60 ng for the acidic/silver nitrate stain [120]. This becomes a problem when one wants to quantify proteins in a sample containing proteins whose amounts are widely different between proteins.

Recently, alternative staining systems have become available to avoid the intrinsic problems of silver staining. The fluorescence-based SYPRO Ruby (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR, USA) [120,122-126] is one of these methods, whose sensitivity is comparable to that of silver staining, and whose detection limit ranges from 0.5 to 5 ng [122]. The dynamic range is much larger than that for silver staining, a 1-1000 ng linear relationship, which enables reliable quantification [120,122]. Although the sensitivity depends on the proteins, as in the case of CBB and silver staining [123], SYPRO Ruby binds to the basic amino acids in proteins non-covalently [122] and it is applicable to membrane proteins without any problems. This method is quick and simple. When the available sample is very limited, sensitive staining methods with a high dynamic range seem quite valuable. Malone et al. [124] modified the staining procedure to raise the contrast without effects on its sensitivity. The only disadvantage of SYPRO Ruby seems to be that it is very costly compared with silver staining, including the detection system.

Negative staining methods (zinc [127,128] and copper [129] staining) are also available. The characteristics (detection limits and linear dynamic ranges) of these staining methods are summarized in Ref. [120] for gels and in Ref. [130] for electroblotting.

When the protein sample contains *c*-type cytochromes, heme-staining is inevitably performed. Vargas et al. applied the enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) technique to detect the *c*-type cytochrome [131]. This method is very useful because the sensitivity is very high, it is convenient, and after the detection, it can be smoothly used for Western blotting. Following the usual transfer onto nitrocellulose or polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membranes after SDS-PAGE, the *c*-type cytochrome bands are visualized using ECL (e.g. with FemtoPico and WestPico supplied by Pierce (Rockford, IL, USA), [132]) in conjunction with a chemiluminescence detection imaging analyzer or X-ray film. This method is based on the peroxidase activity of the cytochrome heme. After transfer onto the membrane, the band can be visualized within minutes, which is quite short compared to the conventional heme-staining procedure with 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) [133] or 3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine (TMBZ) [134]. Vargas et al. [131] reported that 0.2  $\mu$ g of bovine heart cytochrome c can easily be detected by ECL with high linearity and without any background. The sensitivity is comparable to the method with TMBZ. In my recent experience, the use of WestFemto (Pierce) gives much more sensitivity than WestPico (Pierce).

This method is recommended because it does not use hazardous chemicals like TMBZ. However, one should keep in mind that the relative amounts of signals detected can only be compared between the same *c*-type cytochromes in different samples because the intrinsic peroxidase activity can vary significantly between cytochrome species [131]. Furthermore, the calibration standard for the cytochrome should be from the same source for precise quantification (this problem is also true for the conventional detection methods using DAB and TMBZ). Actually, cytochrome c550 from a mesophilic cyanobacterium, Synechocystis 6803, showed quite different stainability from that of a thermophilic cyanobacterium, T. elongatus (Kashino and Pakrasi, unpublished data). Delipidation using diethyl ether may sometimes induce the deletion of heme (Kashino and Pakrasi, unpublished data). 2D electrophoresis is also not suitable for detecting *c*-type cytochromes because the iron may be removed by the high voltage during the first dimensional IEF (Kashino, unpublished data).

Considering the cost of ECL reagents, plastic wrap is sometimes used to incubate the PVDF or nitrocellulose membrane in the ECL reagents. However, this is not good for the quality of the image because the reagent solution will not be evenly dispersed, which results in a smear. In this case, a transparency (OHP) sheet is useful for incubating the PVDF or nitrocellulose membrane with the reaction mixture, which markedly reduces the cost, and is ready to be loaded into the detector. After removal of the reaction solution, the membrane is ready for the subsequent procedures of Western blotting.

Wu et al. [135] reported a modified washing procedure to improve Western blotting detection. A biotinylation-based procedure to detect proteins at the 40 pg level has been reported by Schamel [136]. Application of this detection method to BN-PAGE has also been reported [137].

Mass-spectrometry is widely used to determine proteins. Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization mass spectroscopy (MALDI) is one of the most frequently used methods. Peptide mapping using MALDI is quite powerful, especially if the genome information is available. However, if the molecular mass of the protein is small (less than about  $10 \times 10^3$  rel. mol. mass), the probability of the presence of cleavage sites for trypsin, which is commonly used for this analysis, is decreased. Then, it becomes hard to determine the identity even if the genome information is available. In this case, N-terminal amino acid sequencing is effective [48]. Kashino et al. determined another 11 proteins of less than about  $10 \times 10^3$  rel. mol. mass which were not determined by MALDI methods [48]. N-terminal micro-sequencing is also used for the determination of protein spots on 2D-gels (e.g. Ref. [138]).

MALDI is a useful tool for identifying proteins, as described above. However, the disadvantage is the time duration required to determine the identity. When the samples are composed of numerous proteins, this becomes a problem. Recently, many attempts have been aimed at developing high-throughput analysis. A new method developed by Smith and co-workers is one of these methods [139–141]. This method can be applied to membrane protein complexes.

When proteins are scheduled to be analyzed by mass-spectrometry, one may have to pay attention to the protein staining after electrophoresis. Conventional silver-staining is not suitable for the mass-spectroscopic analysis. Scheler et al. [142] and Gharahdaghi et al. [143] modulated the method to overcome this problem. They refined the destaining and washing processes before the mass-spectrometric analysis to improve the detectability of the proteins. This method does not affect the sensitivity of the staining because the refined point is in the destaining process prior to the mass-spectrometric analysis. Later, Yan et al. [144] reported a modified silver staining protocol using a commercial kit (Silver Stain PlusOne, Amersham Bioscience), and demonstrated a high compatibility with the subsequent mass spectrometry. Staining using SYPRO Ruby is compatible with mass-spectrometric analysis [145] and N-terminal sequencing [130].

### 4. Concluding remarks

The methods which have been discussed here are very limited. However, in some papers, there are several impressive words for the motivation to improve the purification methods, which indicated avoidance of the time consumption for purifying membrane protein complexes, and of the possibility of damaging the purified proteins (e.g. Refs. [70,74]). Based on such ideas, they manipulated the methods to be as simple as possible and obtained highly active and highly purified complexes with simpler methodology. This is reasonable because the complexes no longer had to experience environments which were extreme for them. Considering the successful examples focused on in this review, it is not too extreme to say that a method which is easy for the researcher is also good for the membrane protein complexes. More simple methods with fewer steps, which are developed with deep consideration, will serve to retain the complex in the native form. In this context, the shortening of the procedure with consideration could produce better results. The CIM (convective interaction media) monolith supported column (BIA Separations, Ljubljana, Slovenia) may be such a possibility as an alternative method to the usual ion-exchange column [146]. Using such a column, intact rhodopsin is constantly separated (Dr. Inoue-Ashida, personal communication). However, it will also be good to keep in mind that, in many cases, combining two or three methods will yield higher purity.

The use of 2D electrophoresis using IEF as the 1st dimensional electrophoresis is beneficial for determining defects in proteins by comparing the patterns of protein spots between the normal and defective samples. In particular, the current availability of genetic information for humans will contribute to the determination of such proteins. Once the protein is determined, then the relationships to other proteins can be detected by using 2D electrophoresis with BN electrophoresis if it is associated with other proteins to form a complex. This procedure may become a convenient method in the research on membrane proteins, which is an alternative to the yeast two hybridization method.

### 5. Nomenclature

ASB14	amidosulphobetain 14
BN	blue native
C12E8	octaethylene glycol dodecylether
CBB	Coomassie Blue R250
CHAPS	3-[(3-cholamidopropyl)dimethylammonio]-
	propanesulfonic acid
Chl	chlorophyll
CIM	convective interaction media
CMC	critical micelle concentration
complex I	NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase
complex II	succinate dehydrogenase
complex III	cytochrome $b/c1$ complex
complex IV	cytochrome c oxidase
complex V	F0F1-ATPase
DAB	3,3'-diaminobenzidine
DDM	<i>n</i> -dodecyl-β-D-maltoside
α-DDM	<i>n</i> -dodecyl- $\alpha$ -D-maltoside
DM	<i>n</i> -decyl-β-D-maltoside
DTT	dithiothreitol
ECL	enhanced chemiluminescence
GRAVY	grand average hydropathy
HEPES	2-[4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazinyl]-
	ethanesulfonic acid

His-tag	hexa (or multiple)-histidine tag
HTG	<i>n</i> -heptyl-β-D-thioglucoside
IEF	isoelectric focusing
IPG	immobilized pH gradient
LDAO	lauryl-N,N-dimethylamine-N-oxide
LDS	lithium dodecyl sulphate, lauryl
	sulphate lithium salt
MALDI	matrix-assisted laser desorption
	ionization mass spectroscopy
MES	2-morpholinoethanesulfonic acid,
	monohydrate
NG	<i>n</i> -nonyl-β-D-glucoside
NP-40	Nonidet P-40
OG	<i>n</i> -octyl-β-D-glucoside
OPOE	n-octylpolyoxyethylene
ORF	open reading frame
PEG	polyethyleneglycol
PAGE	polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PS I and PS II	photosystems I and II
PVDF	polyvinylidene difluoride
SB 3-10	sulfobetain 3-10
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate, lauryl sulphate
	sodium salt
TAP	tandem affinity purification
TBP	tributyl phosphine
TMBZ	3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine
Tricine	N-[tris(hydroxymethyl)methyl]glycine

#### Acknowledgements

I am very grateful to Drs. Mitsuaki Sugahara, Masashi Nakagawa, Takeshi Harayama, Kazuhiko Satoh, Kyoko Shinzawa-Itoh, Hidefumi Orii, Qingjun Wang and Takashi Kikuchi for their creative discussion, and to Mr. Ryohta Aminaka and Ms. Natsuko Inoue-Kashino for their technical support.

#### References

- K. Murata, K. Mitsuoka, T. Hirai, T. Walz, P. Agre, J.B. Heymann, A. Engel, Y. Fujiyoshi, Nature 407 (2000) 599.
- [2] H. Sui, B.G. Han, J.K. Lee, P. Walian, B.K. Jap, Nature 414 (2001) 872.
- [3] C. Toyoshima, M. Nakasako, H. Nomura, H. Ogawa, Nature 405 (2000) 647.
- [4] C. Toyoshima, H. Nomura, Nature 418 (2002) 605.
- [5] R. Dutzler, E.B. Campbell, M. Cadene, B.T. Chait, R. MacKinnon, Nature 415 (2002) 287.
- [6] H. Shägger, Electrophoresis 16 (1995) 763.
- [7] R. MacKinnon, S.L. Cohen, A. Kuo, A. Lee, B.T. Chait, Science 280 (1998) 106.
- [8] E.S. Lander, L.M. Linton, B. Birren, C. Nusbaum, M.C. Zody, J. Baldwin, K. Devon, K. Dewar, M. Doyle, W. FitzHugh, R. Funke, D. Gage, K. Harris, A. Heaford, J. Howland, L. Kann, J. Lehoczky, R. LeVine, P. McEwan, K. McKernan, J. Meldrim, J.P. Mesirov, C. Miranda, W. Morris, J. Naylor, C. Raymond, M. Rosetti, R. Santos, A. Sheridan, C. Sougnez, N. Stange-Thomann, N. Stojanovic,

A. Subramanian, D. Wyman, J. Rogers, J. Sulston, R. Ainscough,
S. Beck, D. Bentley, J. Burton, C. Clee, N. Carter, A. Coulson,
R. Deadman, P. Deloukas, A. Dunham, I. Dunham, R. Durbin, L.
French, D. Grafham, S. Gregory, T. Hubbard, S. Humphray, A.
Hunt, M. Jones, C. Lloyd, A. McMurray, L. Matthews, S. Mercer, S. Milne, J.C. Mullikin, A. Mungall, R. Plumb, M. Ross, R.
Shownkeen, S. Sims, R.H. Waterston, R.K. Wilson, L.W. Hillier,
J.D. McPherson, M.A. Marra, E.R. Mardis, L.A. Fulton, A.T. Chinwalla, K.H. Pepin, W.R. Gish, S.L. Chissoe, M.C. Wendl, K.D.
Delehaunty, T.L. Miner, A. Delehaunty, J.B. Kramer, L.L. Cook,
R.S. Fulton, D.L. Johnson, P.J. Minx, S.W. Clifton, T. Hawkins,
E. Branscomb, P. Predki, P. Richardson, S. Wenning, T. Slezak, N.
Doggett, J.F. Cheng, A. Olsen, S. Lucas, C. Elkin, E. Uberbacher,
M. Frazier, et al., Nature 409 (2001) 860.

- [9] J.C. Venter, M.D. Adams, E.W. Myers, P.W. Li, R.J. Mural, G.G. Sutton, H.O. Smith, M. Yandell, C.A. Evans, R.A. Holt, J.D. Gocavne, P. Amanatides, R.M. Ballew, D.H. Huson, J.R. Wortman, Q. Zhang, C.D. Kodira, X.H. Zheng, L. Chen, M. Skupski, G. Subramanian, P.D. Thomas, J. Zhang, G.L. Gabor Miklos, C. Nelson, S. Broder, A.G. Clark, J. Nadeau, V.A. McKusick, N. Zinder, A.J. Levine, R.J. Roberts, M. Simon, C. Slayman, M. Hunkapiller, R. Bolanos, A. Delcher, I. Dew, D. Fasulo, M. Flanigan, L. Florea, A. Halpern, S. Hannenhalli, S. Kravitz, S. Levy, C. Mobarry, K. Reinert, K. Remington, J. Abu-Threideh, E. Beasley, K. Biddick, V. Bonazzi, R. Brandon, M. Cargill, I. Chandramouliswaran, R. Charlab, K. Chaturvedi, Z. Deng, V. Di Francesco, P. Dunn, K. Eilbeck, C. Evangelista, A.E. Gabrielian, W. Gan, W. Ge, F. Gong, Z. Gu, P. Guan, T.J. Heiman, M.E. Higgins, R.R. Ji, Z. Ke, K.A. Ketchum, Z. Lai, Y. Lei, Z. Li, J. Li, Y. Liang, X. Lin, F. Lu, G.V. Merkulov, N. Milshina, H.M. Moore, A.K. Naik, V.A. Narayan, B. Neelam, D. Nusskern, D.B. Rusch, S. Salzberg, W. Shao, B. Shue, J. Sun, Z. Wang, A. Wang, X. Wang, J. Wang, M. Wei, R. Wides, C. Xiao, C. Yan, et al., Science 291 (2001) 1304.
- [10] S.G. Gregory, M. Sekhon, J. Schein, S. Zhao, K. Osoegawa, C.E. Scott, R.S. Evans, P.W. Burridge, T.V. Cox, C.A. Fox, R.D. Hutton, I.R. Mullenger, K.J. Phillips, J. Smith, J. Stalker, G.J. Threadgold, E. Birney, K. Wylie, A. Chinwalla, J. Wallis, L. Hillier, J. Carter, T. Gaige, S. Jaeger, C. Kremitzki, D. Layman, J. Maas, R. McGrane, K. Mead, R. Walker, S. Jones, M. Smith, J. Asano, I. Bosdet, S. Chan, S. Chittaranjan, R. Chiu, C. Fjell, D. Fuhrmann, N. Girn, C. Gray, R. Guin, L. Hsiao, M. Krzywinski, R. Kutsche, S.S. Lee, C. Mathewson, C. McLeavy, S. Messervier, S. Ness, P. Pandoh, A.L. Prabhu, P. Saeedi, D. Smailus, L. Spence, J. Stott, S. Taylor, W. Terpstra, M. Tsai, J. Vardy, N. Wye, G. Yang, S. Shatsman, B. Ayodeji, K. Geer, G. Tsegaye, A. Shvartsbeyn, E. Gebregeorgis, M. Krol, D. Russell, L. Overton, J.A. Malek, M. Holmes, M. Heaney, J. Shetty, T. Feldblyum, W.C. Nierman, J.J. Catanese, T. Hubbard, R.H. Waterston, J. Rogers, P.J. de Jong, C.M. Fraser, M. Marra, J.D. McPherson, D.R. Bentley, Nature 418 (2002) 743.
- [11] S. Mitaku, M. Ono, T. Hirokawa, S. Boon-Chieng, M. Sonoyama, Biophys. Chem. 82 (1999) 165.
- [12] S. Mitaku, T. Hirokawa, T. Tsuji, Bioinformatics 18 (2002) 608.
- [13] E. Wallin, G. von Heijne, Protein Sci. 7 (1998) 1029.
- [14] U.K. Laemmli, Nature 227 (1970) 680.
- [15] P.H. O'Farrell, J. Biol. Chem. 250 (1975) 4007.
- [16] H. Shägger, G. von Jagow, Anal. Biochem. 199 (1991) 223.
- [17] C. Adessi, C. Miege, C. Albrieux, T. Rabilloud, Electrophoresis 18 (1997) 127.
- [18] M.R. Wilkins, E. Gasteiger, J.C. Sanchez, A. Bairoch, D.F. Hochstrasser, Electrophoresis 19 (1998) 1501.
- [19] R.M. Garavito, S. Ferguson-Miller, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 32403.
- [20] D.A. Berthold, G.T. Babcock, C.F. Yocum, FEBS Lett. 134 (1981) 231.
- [21] I. Enami, K. Kamino, J.R. Shen, K. Satoh, S. Katoh, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 977 (1989) 33.

- [22] Y. Kashino, H. Koike, K. Satoh, in: N. Murata (Ed.), Research in Photosynthesis, Kluwer, 1992, p. 163.
- [23] T. Ohno, K. Satoh, S. Katoh, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 852 (1986) 1.
- [24] Y. Kashino, H. Koike, M. Yoshio, H. Egashira, M. Ikeuchi, H.B. Pakrasi, K. Satoh, Plant Cell Physiol. 43 (2002) 1366.
- [25] T. Ichimura, S. Miyairi, K. Satoh, S. Katoh, Plant Cell Physiol. 33 (1992) 299.
- [26] T. Okada, K. Takeda, T. Kouyama, Photochem. Photobiol. 67 (1998) 495.
- [27] L. Essen, R. Siegert, W.D. Lehmann, D. Oesterhelt, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95 (1998) 11673.
- [28] A. Rawyler, M. Meylan, P.A. Siegenthaler, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1104 (1992) 331.
- [29] A. Rawyler, M. Meylan-Bettex, P.A. Siegenthaler, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1233 (1995) 123.
- [30] K. Sonoike, S. Katoh, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 935 (1988) 61.
- [31] K. Sonoike, S. Katoh, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 976 (1989) 210.
- [32] K. Sonoike, S. Katoh, Plant Cell Physiol. 31 (1990) 1079.
- [33] J.G. Okun, V. Zickermann, K. Zwicker, H. Shägger, U. Brandt, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1459 (2000) 77.
- [34] E.A. Berry, L.S. Huang, V.J. DeRose, J. Biol. Chem. 266 (1991) 9064.
- [35] A. Musatov, J. Ortega-Lopez, N.C. Robinson, Biochemistry 39 (2000) 12996.
- [36] T. Tsukihara, H. Aoyama, E. Yamashita, T. Tomizaki, H. Yamaguchi, K. Shinzawa-Itoh, R. Nakashima, R. Yaono, S. Yoshikawa, Science 272 (1996) 1136.
- [37] S. Hobe, S. Prytulla, W. Kuhlbrandt, H. Paulsen, EMBO J. 13 (1994) 3423.
- [38] P. Jordan, P. Fromme, H.T. Witt, O. Klukas, W. Saenger, N. Krauss, Nature 411 (2001) 909.
- [39] K.E. McAuley, P.K. Fyfe, J.P. Ridge, N.W. Isaacs, R.J. Cogdell, M.R. Jones, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 96 (1999) 14706.
- [40] T. Nogi, I. Fathir, M. Kobayashi, T. Nozawa, K. Miki, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 97 (2000) 13561.
- [41] J.E. Walker, Q. Rev. Biophys. 25 (1992) 253.
- [42] H. Shägger, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1555 (2002) 154.
- [43] Y. Hatefi, J.S. Rieske, Methods Enzymol. 10 (1967) 235.
- [44] M. Finel, J.M. Skehel, S.P. Albracht, I.M. Fearnley, J.E. Walker, Biochemistry 31 (1992) 11425.
- [45] S.K. Buchanan, J.E. Walker, Biochem. J. 318 (Pt. 1) (1996) 343.
- [46] M. Miyao, N. Murata, FEBS Lett. 168 (1984) 118.
- [47] T. Ono, Y. Inoue, FEBS Lett. 164 (1983) 255.
- [48] Y. Kashino, W.M. Lauber, J.A. Carroll, Q. Wang, J. Whitmarsh, K. Satoh, H.B. Pakrasi, Biochemistry 41 (2002) 8004.
- [49] A. Zouni, H.T. Witt, J. Kern, P. Fromme, N. Krauss, W. Saenger, P. Orth, Nature 409 (2001) 739.
- [50] N. Kamiya, J.R. Shen, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100 (2003) 98.
- [51] E. Gantt, in: D.A. Bryant (Ed.), The Molecular Biology of Cyanobacteria, Kluwer, Dordrecht, 1994, p. 119.
- [52] W.A. Sidler, in: D.A. Bryant (Ed.), The Molecular Biology of Cyanobacteria, Kluwer, Dordrecht, 1994, p. 119.
- [53] J.P. Dekker, E.J. Boekema, H.T. Witt, M. Rögner, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 936 (1988) 307.
- [54] A. Zouni, C. Lüneberg, P. Fromme, W.D. Schubert, W. Saenger, H.T. Witt, in: G. Garab (Ed.), Photosynthesis: Mechanisms and Effects, Kluwer Academic, The Netherlands, 1998, p. 925.
- [55] H. Kuhl, J. Kruip, A. Seidler, A. Krieger-Liszkay, M. Bunker, D. Bald, A.J. Scheidig, M. Rogner, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 20652.
- [56] T. Omata, N. Murata, Plant Cell Physiol. 26 (1985) 579.
- [57] J.R. Shen, N. Kamiya, Biochemistry 39 (2000) 14739.
- [58] J.R. Shen, Y. Inoue, Biochemistry 32 (1993) 1825.
- [59] X.S. Tang, B.A. Diner, Biochemistry 33 (1994) 4594.
- [60] M. Sugiura, Y. Inoue, J. Minagawa, FEBS Lett. 426 (1998) 140.
- [61] F.H. Arnold, B.L. Haymore, Science 252 (1991) 1796.
- [62] J.O. Goldsmith, S.G. Boxer, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1276 (1996) 171.

- [63] M. Sugiura, Y. Inoue, Plant Cell Physiol. 40 (1999) 1219.
- [64] T.M. Bricker, J. Morvant, N. Masri, H.M. Sutton, L.K. Frankel, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1409 (1998) 50.
- [65] Y. Kashino, W.M. Lauber, J.A. Carroll, Q. Wang, J. Whitmarsh, K. Satoh, H.B. Pakrasi, in: PS2001 Proceedings, 12th International Congress on Photosynthesis, CSIRO, Collingwood, Australia, 2001, p. S22.
- [66] K.A. Williams, Nature 403 (2000) 112.
- [67] K.A. Williams, U. Geldmacher-Kaufer, E. Padan, S. Schuldiner, W. Kühlbrandt, EMBO J. 18 (1999) 3558.
- [68] A.D. Ferguson, J. Breed, K. Diederichs, W. Welte, J.W. Coulton, Protein Sci. 7 (1998) 1636.
- [69] M. Guergova-Kuras, R. Salcedo-Hernandez, G. Bechmann, R. Kuras, R.B. Gennis, A.R. Crofts, Protein Expr. Purif. 15 (1999) 370.
- [70] J.N. Rumbley, E. Furlong Nickels, R.B. Gennis, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1340 (1997) 131.
- [71] J.S. Vrettos, M.J. Reifler, O. Kievit, K.V. Lakshmi, J.C. de Paula, G.W. Brudvig, J. Biol. Inorg. Chem. 6 (2001) 708.
- [72] K.P. Locher, A.T. Lee, D.C. Rees, Science 296 (2002) 1091.
- [73] T. Friedrich, G. Hofhaus, W. Ise, U. Nehls, B. Schmitz, H. Weiss, Eur. J. Biochem. 180 (1989) 173.
- [74] G. Kleymann, C. Ostermeier, B. Ludwig, A. Skerra, H. Michel, Biotechnology (NY) 13 (1995) 155.
- [75] C. Ostermeier, S. Iwata, B. Ludwig, H. Michel, Nat. Struct. Biol. 2 (1995) 842.
- [76] C. Ostermeier, A. Harrenga, U. Ermler, H. Michel, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 94 (1997) 10547.
- [77] C. Lange, C. Hunte, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 99 (2002) 2800.
- [78] S.K. Buchanan, B.S. Smith, L. Venkatramani, D. Xia, L. Esser, M. Palnitkar, R. Chakraborty, D. van der Helm, J. Deisenhofer, Nat. Struct. Biol. 6 (1999) 56.
- [79] M.A. Jalal, D. van der Helm, FEBS Lett. 243 (1989) 366.
- [80] G. Tsiotis, W. Nitschke, W. Haase, H. Michel, Photosynth. Res. 35 (1993) 285.
- [81] I. Tsirogianni, G. Tsiotis, in: C. Hunte, G. von Jagow, H. Shägger (Eds.), Membrane Protein Purification and Crystallization: A Practical Guide, Academic Press, Amsterdam, 2002, p. 131.
- [82] C.R. Lancaster, A. Kroger, M. Auer, H. Michel, Nature 402 (1999) 377.
- [83] C.R. Lancaster, R. Gorss, A. Haas, M. Ritter, W. Mantele, J. Simon, A. Kroger, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 97 (2000) 13051.
- [84] C.R. Lancaster, in: C. Hunte, G. von Jagow, H. Shägger (Eds.), Membrane Protein Purification and Crystallization: A Practical Guide, Academic Press, Amsterdam, 2002, p. 219.
- [85] H. Shägger, in: C. Hunte, G. von Jagow, H. Shägger (Eds.), Membrane Protein Purification and Crystallization: A Practical Guide, Academic Press, Amsterdam, 2002, p. 85.
- [86] S. Iwata, J.W. Lee, K. Okada, J.K. Lee, M. Iwata, B. Rasmussen, T.A. Link, S. Ramaswamy, B.K. Jap, Science 281 (1998) 64.
- [87] A. Musatov, N.C. Robinson, Biochemistry 33 (1994) 10561.
- [88] M. Ikeuchi, Y. Inoue, Plant Cell Physiol. 29 (1988) 1233.
- [89] C. de Vitry, C. Breyton, Y. Pierre, J.L. Popot, J. Biol. Chem. 271 (1996) 10667.
- [90] Y. Takahashi, J. Plant Res. 111 (1998) 101.
- [91] Y. Kashino, H. Koike, K. Satoh, Electrophoresis 22 (2001) 1004.
- [92] H. Shägger, G. von Jagow, Anal. Biochem. 166 (1987) 368.
- [93] L. Carboni, C. Piubelli, P.G. Righetti, B. Jansson, E. Domenici, Electrophoresis 23 (2002) 4132.
- [94] K. Weber, J.R. Pringle, M. Osborn, in: C.H.W. Hirs, S.N. Timasheff (Eds.), Methods Enzymology, Academic Press, New York, 1972, p. 3.
- [95] L. Castellanos-Serra, D. Paz-Lago, Electrophoresis 23 (2002) 1745.
- [96] B. Herbert, Electrophoresis 20 (1999) 660.
- [97] J. Kyte, R.F. Doolittle, J. Mol. Biol. 157 (1982) 105.
- [98] J.M. Cronshaw, A.N. Krutchinsky, W. Zhang, B.T. Chait, M.J. Matunis, J. Cell Biol. 158 (2002) 915.
- [99] T. Rabilloud, Electrophoresis 19 (1998) 758.

- [100] M. Chevallet, V. Santoni, A. Poinas, D. Rouquie, A. Fuchs, S. Kieffer, M. Rossignol, J. Lunardi, J. Garin, T. Rabilloud, Electrophoresis 19 (1998) 1901.
- [101] B.R. Herbert, M.P. Molloy, A.A. Gooley, B.J. Walsh, W.G. Bryson, K.L. Williams, Electrophoresis 19 (1998) 845.
- [102] T. Rabilloud, C. Adessi, A. Giraudel, J. Lunardi, Electrophoresis 18 (1997) 307.
- [103] B. Herbert, M. Galvani, M. Hamdan, E. Olivieri, J. MacCarthy, S. Pedersen, P.G. Righetti, Electrophoresis 22 (2001) 2046.
- [104] R.L. Barent, T.E. Elthon, Plant Mol. Biol. Rep. 10 (1992) 338.
- [105] T. Rabilloud, C. Valette, J.J. Lawrence, Electrophoresis 15 (1994) 1552.
- [106] C. Pasquali, I. Fialka, L.A. Huber, Electrophoresis 18 (1997) 2573.
- [107] M.P. Molloy, B.R. Herbert, K.L. Williams, A.A. Gooley, Electrophoresis 20 (1999) 701.
- [108] D. Seigneurin-Berny, N. Rolland, J. Garin, J. Joyard, Plant J. 19 (1999) 217.
- [109] M. Ferro, D. Seigneurin-Berny, N. Rolland, A. Chapel, D. Salvi, J. Garin, J. Joyard, Electrophoresis 21 (2000) 3517.
- [110] H. Shägger, Methods Cell Biol. 65 (2001) 231.
- [111] M. Oh-Ishi, M. Satoh, T. Maeda, Electrophoresis 21 (2000) 1653.
- [112] N.S. Henderson, L.G. Nijtmans, J.G. Lindsay, E. Lamantea, M. Zeviani, I.J. Holt, Electrophoresis 21 (2000) 2925.
- [113] L.G. Nijtmans, N.S. Henderson, I.J. Holt, Methods 26 (2002) 327.
- [114] H. Shägger, in: C. Hunte, G. von Jagow, H. Shägger (Eds.), Membrane Protein Purification and Crystallization: A Practical Guide, Academic Press, Amsterdam, 2002, p. 105.
- [115] H. Shägger, T.G. Ohm, Eur. J. Biochem. 227 (1995) 916.
- [116] R. Van Coster, J. Smet, E. George, L. De Meirleir, S. Seneca, J. Van Hove, G. Sebire, H. Verhelst, J. De Bleecker, B. Van Vlem, P. Verloo, J. Leroy, Pediatr. Res. 50 (2001) 658.
- [117] C. Jung, C.M. Higgins, Z. Xu, Anal. Biochem. 286 (2000) 214.
- [118] S. Fields, O. Song, Nature 340 (1989) 245.
- [119] G. Rigaut, A. Shevchenko, B. Rutz, M. Wilm, M. Mann, B. Seraphin, Nat. Biotechnol. 17 (1999) 1030.
- [120] K. Berggren, E. Chernokalskaya, T.H. Steinberg, C. Kemper, M.F. Lopez, Z. Diwu, R.P. Haugland, W.F. Patton, Electrophoresis 21 (2000) 2509.
- [121] T. Rabilloud, Electrophoresis 11 (1990) 785.
- [122] J.C. Nishihara, K.M. Champion, Electrophoresis 23 (2002) 2203.
- [123] T.H. Steinberg, E. Chernokalskaya, K. Berggren, M.F. Lopez, Z. Diwu, R.P. Haugland, W.F. Patton, Electrophoresis 21 (2000) 486.
- [124] J.P. Malone, M.R. Radabaugh, R.M. Leimgruber, G.S. Gerstenecker, Electrophoresis 22 (2001) 919.
- [125] M.F. Lopez, K. Berggren, E. Chernokalskaya, A. Lazarev, M. Robinson, W.F. Patton, Electrophoresis 21 (2000) 3673.
- [126] J.X. Yan, R.A. Harry, C. Spibey, M.J. Dunn, Electrophoresis 21 (2000) 3657.
- [127] L. Castellanos-Serra, W. Proenza, V. Huerta, R.L. Moritz, R.J. Simpson, Electrophoresis 20 (1999) 732.
- [128] L. Castellanos-Serra, E. Hardy, Electrophoresis 22 (2001) 864.
- [129] C. Lee, A. Levin, D. Branton, Anal. Biochem. 166 (1987) 308.
- [130] K. Berggren, T.H. Steinberg, W.M. Lauber, J.A. Carroll, M.F. Lopez, E. Chernokalskaya, L. Zieske, Z. Diwu, R.P. Haugland, W.F. Patton, Anal. Biochem. 276 (1999) 129.
- [131] C. Vargas, A.G. McEwan, J.A. Downie, Anal. Biochem. 209 (1993) 323.
- [132] C.S. Beckett, J.A. Loughman, K.A. Karberg, G.M. Donato, W.E. Goldman, R.G. Kranz, Mol. Microbiol. 38 (2000) 465.
- [133] A. McDonnel, L.A. Staehelin, Anal. Biochem. 117 (1981) 40.
- [134] P.E. Thomas, D. Ryan, W. Levin, Anal. Biochem. 75 (1976) 168.
- [135] M. Wu, P.G. Stockley, W.J. Martin 2nd, Electrophoresis 23 (2002) 2373.
- [136] W.W. Schamel, Anal. Biochem. 274 (1999) 144.
- [137] W.W. Schamel, J. Immunol. Methods 252 (2001) 171.
- [138] T. Sazuka, M. Yamaguchi, O. Ohara, Electrophoresis 20 (1999) 2160.

- [139] M.S. Lipton, L. Pasa-Tolic, G.A. Anderson, D.J. Anderson, D.L. Auberry, J.R. Battista, M.J. Daly, J. Fredrickson, K.K. Hixson, H. Kostandarithes, C. Masselon, L.M. Markillie, R.J. Moore, M.F. Romine, Y. Shen, E. Stritmatter, N. Tolic, H.R. Udseth, A. Venkateswaran, K.K. Wong, R. Zhao, R.D. Smith, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 99 (2002) 11049.
- [140] R.D. Smith, G.A. Anderson, M.S. Lipton, L. Pasa-Tolic, Y. Shen, T.P. Conrads, T.D. Veenstra, H.R. Udseth, Proteomics 2 (2002) 513.
- [141] R.D. Smith, G.A. Anderson, M.S. Lipton, C. Masselon, L. Pasa-Tolic, Y. Shen, H.R. Udseth, Omics 6 (2002) 61.
- [142] C. Scheler, S. Lamer, Z. Pan, X.P. Li, J. Salnikow, P. Jungblut, Electrophoresis 19 (1998) 918.
- [143] F. Gharahdaghi, C.R. Weinberg, D.A. Meagher, B.S. Imai, S.M. Mische, Electrophoresis 20 (1999) 601.
- [144] J.X. Yan, R. Wait, T. Berkelman, R.A. Harry, J.A. Westbrook, C.H. Wheeler, M.J. Dunn, Electrophoresis 21 (2000) 3666.
- [145] W.M. Lauber, J.A. Carroll, D.R. Dufield, J.R. Kiesel, M.R. Radabaugh, J.P. Malone, Electrophoresis 22 (2001) 906.
- [146] A. Bavec, A. Podgornik, M. Sorko, Acta Chim. Slov. 47 (2000) 371.
- [147] N. Grigorieff, J. Mol. Biol. 277 (1998) 1033.
- [148] K. Leonard, H. Haiker, H. Weiss, J. Mol. Biol. 194 (1987) 277.
- [149] V. Guenebaut, R. Vincentelli, D. Mills, H. Weiss, K.R. Leonard, J. Mol. Biol. 265 (1997) 409.
- [150] K. Kita, C.R. Vibat, S. Meinhardt, J.R. Guest, R.B. Gennis, J. Biol. Chem. 264 (1989) 2672.
- [151] V. Yankovskaya, R. Horsefield, S. Tornroth, C. Luna-Chavez, H. Miyoshi, C. Leger, B. Byrne, G. Cecchini, S. Iwata, Science 299 (2003) 700.
- [152] Z. Zhang, L. Huang, V.M. Shulmeister, Y.I. Chi, K.K. Kim, L.W. Hung, A.R. Crofts, E.A. Berry, S.H. Kim, Nature 392 (1998) 677.
- [153] T. Soulimane, G. Buse, G.P. Bourenkov, H.D. Bartunik, R. Huber, M.E. Than, EMBO J. 19 (2000) 1766.
- [154] T. Soulimane, M.E. Than, M. Dewor, R. Huber, G. Buse, Protein Sci. 9 (2000) 2068.
- [155] A. Giuffre, E. Forte, G. Antonini, E. D'Itri, M. Brunori, T. Soulimane, G. Buse, Biochemistry 38 (1999) 1057.
- [156] J. Abramson, S. Riistama, G. Larsson, A. Jasaitis, M. Svensson-Ek, L. Laakkonen, A. Puustinen, S. Iwata, M. Wikstrom, Nat. Struct. Biol. 7 (2000) 910.
- [157] J. Abramson, G. Larsson, B. Byrne, A. Puustinen, A. Garcia-Horsman, S. Iwata, Acta Crystallogr. D Biol. Crystallogr. 56 (Pt. 8) (2000) 1076.
- [158] T.M. Iverson, C. Luna-Chavez, G. Cecchini, D.C. Rees, Science 284 (1999) 1961.
- [159] P. Fromme, H.T. Witt, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1365 (1998) 175.
- [160] S. Karrasch, D. Typke, T. Walz, M. Miller, G. Tsiotis, A. Engel, J. Mol. Biol. 262 (1996) 336.
- [161] U. Ermler, G. Fritzsch, S.K. Buchanan, H. Michel, Structure 2 (1994) 925.
- [162] K.E. McAuley-Hecht, P.K. Fyfe, J.P. Ridge, S.M. Prince, C.N. Hunter, N.W. Isaacs, R.J. Cogdell, M.R. Jones, Biochemistry 37 (1998) 4740.
- [163] J. Deisenhofer, O. Epp, I. Sinning, H. Michel, J. Mol. Biol. 246 (1995) 429.
- [164] N. Katayama, M. Kobayashi, F. Motojima, K. Inaka, T. Nozawa, K. Miki, FEBS Lett. 348 (1994) 158.
- [165] K. McLuskey, S.M. Prince, R.J. Cogdell, N.W. Isaacs, Acta Crystallogr. D Biol. Crystallogr. 55 (Pt. 4) (1999) 885.
- [166] E. Pebay-Peyroula, G. Rummel, J.P. Rosenbusch, E.M. Landau, Science 277 (1997) 1676.
- [167] E.R. Kunji, E.N. Spudich, R. Grisshammer, R. Henderson, J.L. Spudich, J. Mol. Biol. 308 (2001) 279.
- [168] D.A. Doyle, J. Morais Cabral, R.A. Pfuetzner, A. Kuo, J.M. Gulbis, S.L. Cohen, B.T. Chait, R. MacKinnon, Science 280 (1998) 69.
- [169] Y. Jiang, A. Lee, J. Chen, M. Cadene, B.T. Chait, R. MacKinnon, Nature 417 (2002) 515.

- [170] M. Kolbe, H. Besir, L.O. Essen, D. Oesterhelt, Science 288 (2000) 1390.
- [171] G. Chang, R.H. Spencer, A.T. Lee, M.T. Barclay, D.C. Rees, Science 282 (1998) 2220.
- [172] R.B. Bass, P. Strop, M. Barclay, D.C. Rees, Science 298 (2002) 1582.
- [173] K. Zeth, K. Diederichs, W. Welte, H. Engelhardt, Struct. Fold. Des. 8 (2000) 981.
- [174] D. Fu, A. Libson, L.J. Miercke, C. Weitzman, P. Nollert, J. Krucinski, R.M. Stroud, Science 290 (2000) 481.
- [175] J.E. Meyer, M. Hofnung, G.E. Schulz, J. Mol. Biol. 266 (1997) 761.
- [176] G. Chang, C.B. Roth, Science 293 (2001) 1793.
- [177] S. Murakami, R. Nakashima, E. Yamashita, A. Yamaguchi, Nature 419 (2002) 587.
- [178] Y.J. Sun, F. Forouhar, H.M. Li Hm, S.L. Tu, Y.H. Yeh, S. Kao, H.L. Shr, C.C. Chou, C. Chen, C.D. Hsiao, Nat. Struct. Biol. 9 (2002) 95.

- [179] A.D. Ferguson, E. Hofmann, J.W. Coulton, K. Diederichs, W. Welte, Science 282 (1998) 2215.
- [180] T. Tsukihara, H. Aoyama, E. Yamashita, T. Tomizaki, H. Yamaguchi, K. Shinzawa-Itoh, R. Nakashima, R. Yaono, S. Yoshikawa, Science 269 (1995) 1069.
- [181] D. Xia, C.A. Yu, H. Kim, J.Z. Xia, A.M. Kachurin, L. Zhang, L. Yu, J. Deisenhofer, Science 277 (1997) 60.
- [182] X. Gao, X. Wen, C. Yu, L. Esser, S. Tsao, B. Quinn, L. Zhang, L. Yu, D. Xia, Biochemistry 41 (2002) 11692.
- [183] H. Kim, D. Xia, C.A. Yu, J.Z. Xia, A.M. Kachurin, L. Zhang, L. Yu, J. Deisenhofer, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95 (1998) 8026.
- [184] K. Palczewski, T. Kumasaka, T. Hori, C.A. Behnke, H. Motoshima, B.A. Fox, I. Le Trong, D.C. Teller, T. Okada, R.E. Stenkamp, M. Yamamoto, M. Miyano, Science 289 (2000) 739.
- [185] K. Satoh, A. Kamiesu, H. Egashira, Y. Kashino, H. Koike, Plant Cell Physiol. 40 (1999) 96.